Public Document Pack
Mark Saccoccio
Town Clerk
01525 631920
info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Friday, 27 November 2020
To:
Members of the Cultural & Economic Committee (Councillors A Dodwell,
S Hemmings, K Cursons, D Bowater, G Perham, M Freeman, R Goodchild and
P Snelling)
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information)

NOTICE OF MEETING
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Cultural & Economic Committee to
be held on Monday, 7 December 2020 commencing at 7.30 pm in the This will be a
remote meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance
THIS MEETING MAY
with The Local Authorities and Crime Panels
BE RECORDED *
(Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales)
Regulations 2020.
https://tinyurl.com/y4npdttt

M Saccoccio
Town Clerk

AGENDA
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting.
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town
Clerk.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

This will be a remote meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance with The Local Authorities
and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020

CULTURAL & ECONOMIC COMMITTEE
3.

Monday, 7 December 2020

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order
No.s 3(f) and 3(g).

4.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS (Pages 1 - 8)
To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Cultural and
Economic Services Committee meetings held on 7 September 2020.

5.

SUB COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 9 - 14)
To receive the draft minutes of the following meeting and to consider any
recommendations contained therein:
Market Sub Committee 5 November 2020 (attached)

6.

NATIONAL MARKET TRADER FEDERATION
To receive guests, Ms T Murphy and Mr B Dyson, Market Support Workers of
the National Market Traders Federation as per Market Sub Committee
Recommendation Ref: 29/MK, 29/02/20:
To recommend the Liaison Officer be invited to the next appropriate Cultural
and Economic Services Meeting for discussions on Market Matters.

7.

OLDER PERSONS TASK AND FINISH GROUP (Pages 15 - 36)

(a)To receive the approved minutes of the following meetings and to
consider any recommendations contained therein.
(i) 1 October 2020 (attached)
(ii) 15 October 2020 (attached)
(iii) 29 October 2020, (attached)
(b)To receive and to approve as a correct record the minutes of the Older
Persons Task and Finish Group held on 29 October 2020, to be signed
at a later date (attached).
(c) To receive a report on proposed activities for Older People and to
consider the proposals contained therein. (attached)
8.

COMMUNITY EVENTS UPDATE (Pages 37 - 44)
To receive an update on the community events programme and to consider the
proposals contained therein. (attached)

CULTURAL & ECONOMIC COMMITTEE
9.

Monday, 7 December 2020

TACTIC WORK UPDATE (Pages 45 - 50)
To receive an update report on TACTIC activities and consider the proposals
contained therein (attached).

10.

PIGEON MANAGEMENT (Pages 51 - 62)
To receive a report on pigeon management activities and to consider the
proposals contained therein. (attached)

11.

BUDGET REPORT (Pages 63 - 80)
To receive an update report on service budgets inclusive of the half year
detailed income and expenditure report, consider the budget proposals for
2021-22 and consider the recommendations therein. (attached)

12.

STANDING ITEMS AND GENERAL UPDATES (Pages 81 - 90)
To receive an update report and consider any recommendations contained
therein. (attached)

13.

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN AND OBJECTIVES (Pages 91 - 94)

(a) To receive and consider the workplan for 2020-2021 (attached).

14.

TOWN CENTRE PEDESTRIANISATION (Pages 95 - 96)
To receive a report on the findings from the engagement with the Hockliffe
Street and Lake Street businesses in respect of potential pedestrianisation in
response to the Covid-19 Pandemic. (attached)

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member,
officer or member of the public. No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into
exempt session. The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
MINUTES OF CULTURAL & ECONOMIC COMMITTEE
MONDAY, 7 SEPTEMBER 2020 AT 7.30 PM

51/CE

Present: Councillors

A Dodwell (Chair)
S Hemmings
K Cursons
D Bowater
G Perham
M Freeman
R Goodchild
P Snelling
F Kharawala (substituting for C Chambers)

Also in attendance:

M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
S Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central
Services
V Cannon, Head of Cultural and Economic
Services
M Jahn, Committee Officer
L Farmer, TACTIC Manager – part meeting
B Bodsworth, Town and Country Promotions
Manager
A Harrison, Market Manager
G Borelli, LB First
Cllr V Harvey
Cllr T Morris

Members of the public:
Members of the press

1
0

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence had been received and were accepted from Councillor
C Chambers (substituted by Councillor F Kharawala).

52/CE

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this
meeting. No declarations were made.

53/CE

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
There were no questions from the public.

54/CE

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Page 1

Page 22

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

(a)

Monday, 7 September 2020

The Committee received the draft minutes of the previous Committee
meeting held on 9 March 2020.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Cultural and Economic
Services Committee held on 9 March 2020 be approved as a
correct record, to be signed at a later date when safe to do so.

(b)

55/CE

All updates would be dealt with in agenda item 12 (standing items and
general updates)

SUB COMMITTEE MINUTES
The Committee received the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee
meeting held on 27 February 2020 for consideration.
RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Market Sub-Committee
meeting held on 27 February 2020.

56/CE

BUSINESS SUPPORT
(a)

The Committee received a presentation from Gennaro Borelli of LB
First to request Town Council funding and support with a proposal to
promote independent businesses in the town by producing a digital
platform. This would allow information to be stored with links to
business’ own websites, or if a business did not have their own
website an e-commerce platform could be provided to facilitate online
ordering and deliveries. It was felt that with winter approaching and
the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, developing such a
platform would provide a collective shopfront allowing residents to buy
online if they were unable to come into the town to shop.

A question was raised regarding how much funding would be needed and
what time frame was anticipated. It was confirmed that approximately £5,500
would be needed in total to provide a website with e-commerce functionality
and to be operational as soon as possible. A request was also made for
assistance from town council staff to help gather the information needed to
set up the website.
Although the Committee fully supported the concept of the proposal,
concerns were raised regarding the complexity of the task and the work and
skills needed to keep the information current and up-to-date. The Town
Clerk confirmed he fully supported the idea but that there was no capacity
within town council staff to offer assistance at present without employing
another person. The use of volunteers to help with the initial data gathering
was suggested.
Whilst supportive of the principle, the Committee agreed that more detailed
scoping work was needed to determine the level of interest from independent
businesses. It was proposed that initial funding of £1,000 be provided to

Page 2

Page 23

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

Monday, 7 September 2020

support LB First in undertaking a feasibility study and further scoping work.
Additional funding of up to £5,000 could be considered by Committee upon
receipt of the more detailed scoping report and breakdown of the project.
This could be provided to the next appropriate meeting of either this
committee or the Policy and Finance Committee. If necessary an additional
meeting could be scheduled to ensure the project was not unnecessarily
delayed.

RESOLVED:
i) That an initial £1,000 of a possible £6,000 be made available to LB
First as soon as possible from earmarked reserves (970/9026), to
fund further scoping work and feasibility study for a “Digital High
Street” web portal for independent businesses.
ii)

That consideration of remaining funding (up to a further £5,000)
from the same earmarked reserve be made by either this
Committee or the Policy and Finance Committee upon
presentation of a detailed report giving scoping details and a
breakdown of how further monies will be spent. The report to be
presented to the soonest appropriate meeting.

(b)

The Committee received and considered a report on the creation of a
web-based SME business directory. Once set up the directory should
be self-managed with no additional involvement of the Town Council.
The suggestion had arisen as a result of feedback from local
businesses which were not necessarily town centre or retail based,
seeking support.

It was noted that as with the previous web portal proposal, the directory
would require the individual businesses to undertake to keep their pages up
to date and current.
RESOLVED:
i) That up to £375 be made available from the Business Support
annual budget (101/4510), to assist with the launch of the
electronic directory for small to medium sized enterprises (SME)
upon receipt of a satisfactory scoping document detailing what is
being delivered, the timeframe of delivery activity and how
ongoing support and maintenance will be managed.
ii) To allocate up to £300 from the Business Support annual budget
(101/4510), to contract the services of the same illustrator who
completed the Town Centre Logo to create a logo in similar
branding style for the SME Directory

(c)

The Committee received and considered an update report on the

Page 3

Page 24

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

Monday, 7 September 2020

Town Centre Promotion campaign.
A request was made for a Keeping It Local Banner to be put by the bus stops
in West Street to confirm the town is open for business.
RESOLVED to note the report.

57/CE

COMMUNITY EVENTS UPDATE
The Committee received a report to update members on the Events
Programme following a period of amendments following COVID-19. Officers
were working on music and leisure activities to compliment the
pedestrianisation of the High Street during the coming months. Stand- alone
performances and entertainment to comply with government guidelines and
still offer a variety of styles. Also consideration had been given to the
Christmas period to ensure a festive offering within the town centre during
December including a festive Sunday market and Christmas music via
loudspeakers in the High Street.
The Committee re-iterated the need to work with Central Bedfordshire
Council to facilitate the placing of benches, chairs and tables in the High
Street as soon as possible and a meeting was suggested with Steve Lakin
and officers from the Town Council to move this on. A suggestion was made
for entertainment and buskers to be invited to play now the High Street was
pedestrianised on non-market days to encourage people into the town.
Members thanked the Events Team for their continued hard work during a
difficult time providing ideas and facilitating on-line alternatives.
RESOLVED to note the report.

58/CE

TACTIC WORK UPDATE
The Committee received a report providing a review of the previous year’s
work plan delivery 2018/19 to 2019/20 and an update report on the first two
quarters of the current financial year. The Youth Forum met virutally every
Thursday during lockdown and 1:1 mentoring continued over the phone
where possible. The staff updated their training and created new workshops
for schools to be delivered once they opened.
Outreach had taken place twice a week and the Youth Survey was given to
some young people. A total of nineteen surveys were completed and
highlighted the need for meeting places for young people, seating and
shelters in the parks, outdoor cinema and music and the opportunity for
martial arts classes.
The Committee agreed that the TACTIC centre was a ‘safe’ place for many
young people and how important the face-to-face mentoring was for many

Page 4

Page 25

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

Monday, 7 September 2020

struggling with anxiety and difficult home lives.
Members were informed that the older persons Christmas meal would be
replaced this year due to COVID-19 restrictions being replaced with the
delivery of Christmas Hampers.
Thanks were given by the Committee for the in-depth report and the
continuing hard work carried out by the TACTIC team, especially in the
difficult circumstances generated by the COVID-19 pandemic.
RESOLVED to note the report.
59/CE

LEIGHTON BUZZARD MARKET
(a)

The Committee received and noted the decisions made by the Market
Sub Committee between 20 March and 30 June 2020.

RESOLVED to receive and note the decisions made by the Market Sub
Committee between 20 March and 30 June 2020, in accordance with the
decision-making process agreed by Council on 20 March 2020.
(b)

The Committee received and considered the Market General Update
Report on market activity including the market delivery plan review for
2019-2020 and current market activity including trader recruitment,
social media platforms, promotion and future speciality markets.

During lockdown the Market Manager kept in contact with the traders by
telephone to ascertain how they were coping financially and mentally and
posted a summary of his finds on the National Association of British Markets
Authorities forum. This received a response from the Chief Executive of the
NABMA thanking the Market Manager for good practice and providing verbal
support for traders.
The Committee were informed that Speciality Markets had begun to return
with a successful Sunday Street Food Heroes event on the 9 August and this
success had prompted them to return on Sunday 13 September in the High
Street. The French Market has provisionally booked, restrictions allowing, for
2 October 2020 and the Vegan Market will run on 20 September with 30-35
stalls attending.
An extra monthly Thursday market had been organised to allow the casual
and speciality market traders to attend because of limited spacing on a the
regular Charter market days. This had been well received by traders and
public alike.
A question was raised regarding the lay-out of the market and whether this
could be amended with the position of stalls varied to allow shops a better
outlook from their premises. It was advised this could be revisited but
restrictions and regulations dictate spacing and general layout at present.

Page 5

Page 26

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

Monday, 7 September 2020

The Committee gave their thanks to the Market Manager and team and the
Head of Service for their continued hard work during this difficult period
enabling the market traders to return in the High Street.
RESOLVED to note the report.
(c)

The Committee received and considered the end of year 2019/20
Market Budget report

RESOLVED to note the report.

60/CE

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN AND OBJECTIVES
(a)

The Committee received the Committee Workplan and Objectives for
2020-2021.

RESOLVED to note the Committee objectives and work plan for 202021.
(b)

61/CE

RESOLVED to receive and formally note the decisions made by
the Committee between 20 March – 30 June 2020 in accordance
with the decision-making process agreed by Council on 20 March
2020.

BUDGET REPORT
The Committee received a system generated budget report for the revenue
budget and earmarked reserves, as well as a report outlining and committed
expenditure and the amounts remaining available.
RESOLVED to note the report.

62/CE

STANDING ITEMS AND GENERAL UPDATES
The Committee received a report to inform on service activity during the
COVID-19 pandemic which had caused delays but projects are on-going and
progresssing with the Architectural Lighting tentatively anticipated to be
completed by early February 2021.
A suggestion was made by one councillor about reducing the number of
messages displayed on the electronic signage.
A question was raised by one councillor regarding the number of people
allowed in the multi-storey ladies toilets and if the risk assessment could be
revisited due to there sometimes being a queue.
RESOLVED to note the information.

Page 6

Page 27

Cultural & Economic Committee Meeting

Monday, 7 September 2020

The meeting closed at 9.47 pm.
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 7 SEPTEMBER 2020.

Chair

7 DECEMBER 2020

Page 7

Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8

Agenda Item 5
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
MARKETS SUB-COMMITTEE
THURSDAY 5 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 1030 HOURS
Present: Councillors

G Perham
D Bowater
R Berry
P Snelling
R Goodchild
K Cursons
F Kharawala
J M Freeman

Also in attendance:

M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
V Cannon (Head of Cultural and Economic
Services)
S Sandiford (Head of Democratic Services)
A Harrison (Market Manager)
M Jahn (Committee Officer)
Cllr V Harvey

Members of the Public:

0

35/MK APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR
It was proposed and seconded that Councillor G Perham be appointed Chair of
the Markets Sub-Committee for the municipal year 2020-2021. There were no
further nominations. On being put to the vote, the motion was carried.
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor G Perham Chair of the Markets SubCommittee for the municipal year 2020-2021.
Councillor Perham took the Chair.
36/MK APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR
It was proposed and seconded that Councillor F Kharawala be appointed Vice
Chair of the Markets Sub-Committee for the municipal year 2020-2021. There
were no further nominations. On being put to the vote, the motion was carried.
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor Kharawala Vice Chair of the Markets
Sub-Committee for the municipal year 2020-2021.
37/MK APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor T Morris.

Page 9

Page 15

Market Sub-Committee

38/MK

5 NOVEMBER 2020

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.
No declarations were made.

39/MK

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
There were no questions from the public.

40/MK

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Sub-Committee received the draft minutes of the previous meeting, held on
27 February 2020 for consideration.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Markets Sub-Committee meeting held
on 27 February 2020 be approved as a correct record, to be signed at a
later date when safe to do so.

41/MK

CASHLESS PAYMENTS
The Sub-Committee received and considered a report regarding Cashless
Payments for market rents. Members had previously considered this option and
concluded its reasons for moving to cashless rent payments with the Covid-19
pandemic further supporting the need to change the operational practice. World
Pay offered competitive contractual rates for using their cashless systems which
would incur a service charge and it was proposed to utilise current year budget
savings to address the anticipated 2020/21 budget shortfall and then to create a
new budget line within the market budget for financial year 2021/22.
Members agreed that cashless payments would be safer for all concerned,
traders and officers alike. Also many people do not carry cash and the
opportunity for a card purchase could result in more purchases by shoppers. A
full consultation had taken place with traders and only one comment was
received back from a trader. A newsletter would be circulated to all traders once
cashless payments began.
RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Finance Committee:
(a) to introduce cashless payments for on-the-day market rent collection
(b) to enter a contract with WorldPay to facilitate the collection of cashless
payments for market rents.
(c) to vire funds across from the Central Bank Charges budget line 4381/12,
into the Market Cost Centre creating a new budget line to cover the
service charges associated with the contactless payments for the
remainder of 2020/21, in order that accurate costs for the running of the
market can be established.
(d) that the new budget line is taken forward within the Market cost centre
for 2021/22, to cover future service charges associated with the
cashless payment system.

Page 10

Page 16

Market Sub-Committee

42/MK

5 NOVEMBER 2020

MARKET GENERAL UPDATE
The Sub-Committee received and considered an update report on market activity
including market delivery from April to September 2020, trader recruitment, social
media platforms, promotion and future visiting markets.
Due to COVID-19 the market had to be cancelled from lockdown at the end of
March until May when a limited ‘essentials’ market was held in Hockliffe Street
Car Park. The market was able to return to the High Street on the 20th June once
the TTRO was in place and the High Street pedestrianised. The layout of the
market had been reconfigured to follow the 2m distancing rules and become
COVID secure. All regular traders had returned to the market by the end of July
which enabled officers to allocate a small number of casual trader pitches.
Feedback from the public had been mainly positive regarding the
pedestrianisation enabling the market to spread over the whole High Street. Extra
markets were held once a month on a Thursday to offer the speciality, casual and
start up traders to attend and gain access to a market.
Visiting Markets, which operate independently from the Council, were able to
reschedule their attendance after lockdown eased. The Street Food Heroes
returned on two Sundays 9th August and 13th September and were very well
received by many customers. The Vegan Market attended on 20th September
with 39 traders taking part and have re booked to return for two dates in May and
September 2021. The French Market originally booked for April 2020 were able
to return on 2nd October with a limited number of traders as only English based
French traders were able to attend due to restrictions.
A question was raised regarding why the number of stalls set up for the Vegan
market seemed more than the Tuesday and Saturday markets. The pitch size of
the Vegan stalls were smaller than the normal market. On reflection of the day,
discussions had taken place to advise the food stalls be spread out to reduce
queueing and crowding in one area. Also perhaps the advertising for these
speciality events could be amended so they are referred to as a Vegan Fayre or
Event so the public would not immediately associate them with the Town Council
market event. Committee were informed that these independent operators’ trade
names included the word ‘market’ to promote themselves. Officers will consider
how best to assist the promotion and create separation between the markets and
the Council.
A suggestion was made to look into the format of the market if the
pedestrianisation was made permanent and enabled more solid structures to be
installed in the High Street which could be used in all weather conditions and by
other businesses. Although this could be a good idea it would restrict other uses
of the High Street if the stalls were a permanent fixture, but consideration could
be given to ideas in the future.
The Sub Committee also agreed that on days when the inclement weather policy
was put into operation notices should be put at the top and bottom of the High
Street advising there may be a reduced market because of the weather.

Page 11

Page 17

Market Sub-Committee

5 NOVEMBER 2020

Thanks were given to the Officers for their hard work and continuing to make the
market thrive.
RESOLVED to note the report.
43/MK BUDGET REPORT
The Sub-Committee received and considered the budget report. This was by no
means a typical year to make year on year income comparisons due to COVID
19 lockdown and restrictions imposed but the situation was being monitored and
the traders were grateful for the support given by Leighton-Linslade Town Council.
With the start of another four-week lockdown it was suggested that an extension
be made to the free rent period to the end of December. Members agreed a
recommendation should be made to the Policy and Finance Committee to enable
a quicker decision.
RECOMMENDED to Policy and Finance Committee to waive the payment of
market pitch fees by permanent market traders for a further month with
collection re-commencing on Saturday 2 January 2021.
RESOLVED to note the report.
44/MK MARKET 12 MONTH REVIEW
The Sub-Committee received and considered a detailed 12-month review report
showing the unique circumstances the market had faced this year with the
COVID-19 restrictions in place. This was the third review since the market
relaunched in late September 2017.
The market layout had to be reconfigured to adhere to restrictions and the closure
of the High Street to traffic enabled the stalls to be spread out and use the
highway. Feedback had been generally positive from the public and the retail
premises in the High Street. Members discussed the TTRO and the removal of
the buses from the High Street permanently or only on market days. Upgrades to
the electric supply had halted for the time being but would be considered in the
future in consultation with Central Bedfordshire Council.
It was agreed opening times should be explored to reflect how the majority of
customers and traders use the market, and the current layout would continue until
the end of the TTRO. It was suggested as the bus stops were now in West Street,
some banners or a noticeboard be installed to welcome people to Leighton
Buzzard and direct shoppers to the High Street and the market.
Thanks were given for a comprehensive report and for all the hard work the
officers had put in to enable the market to continue and thrive in the current
situation.
RESOLVED
(a) to advise Full Council that this Committee seeks to continue using the

Page 12

Page 18

Market Sub-Committee

5 NOVEMBER 2020

road space for future market delivery beyond the period of the
experimental Temporary Traffic Road Order and the permanent removal
of buses on market days.
(b) to consider undertaking a review of market opening hours.

The meeting closed at 1204 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 NOVEMBER 2020.

Chair

25 FEBRUARY 2020

Page 13

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14

Agenda Item 7
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
OLDER PERSONS TASK AND FINISH GROUP
THURSDAY 1 OCTOBER 2020 AT 1000 HOURS
Present:

Councillors

Also in attendance:

01/OP

S Owen (Chair)
R Goodchild
M Freeman
G Perham (substituting for K Cursons) joined
meeting at 10.30 am
T Morris
D Bowater (left meeting early)
V Cannon, Head of Cultural & Economic
Services
S Jewell, Older Persons Project Co-ordinator
M Jahn, Committee Officer

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR
It was proposed and seconded that Councillor S Owen be appointed Chair of
the Older Persons Task and Finish Group. One further nomination was
received for Councillor T Morris but Councillor Morris declined. On being put to
the vote, Councillor Owen was appointed.
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor S Owen Chair of the Older Persons
Task and Finish Group. Councillor Owen took the Chair.

02/OP

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies were received from Councillor K Cursons substituted by Councillor G
Perham.

03/OP

OLDER PEOPLE
The Task and Finish Group received and considered an update report on
scoping activity including time scales and next steps. After distributing hard
copies of the survey via various community groups supporting the elderly,
online, by telephone and discussions with Central Bedfordshire Council the
main points highlighted were –
(a) The lack of digital inclusion for older people
(b) A gap in groups being accessed by men
(c) The need of a ‘central hub’ be it a physical location older people can go to
and/or a online location that lists all activities/groups/services available to
older people.
(d) The influence of COVID-19 on what we plan to do – the current Covid-19
landscape for older people looking quite different from what it will look
like/what activities can be done post-Covid 19. what organisations are
currently able to do and what timescales how resources could be used.
(e) All with an underlying theme of ‘Connectivity’ – the importance of

Page 15

Page 1

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

1 October 2020

connections in reducing loneliness, but that a wider variety of options need
to be available in the community to meet different needs.
The members agreed there was a lack of a central hub/information point for
people to research what groups were available and how to access them. It
was suggested that the Town Council could help co-ordinate this by adding a
page to their present website giving this information and links. This option
would have to be researched in terms of capacity within the town council and
how it would operate. Also noted was the inclusion of the Town Council as a
trusted organisation would give older people confidence in whatever scheme
was introduced.
After discussion it was agreed that the greatest need should not be decided by
age group (i.e. 55+/60+/80+) but by what ‘circumstances’ that older person
has, this could be their mobility, their specific ‘illness’ or the mental health
needs they have. Alongside this is the older persons need for multigenerational contact. The members agreed to invite other organisations to the
next Task and Finish Group meeting and provide them with a list of questions
to discuss at that meeting. It was also supported that the Parishes outside
Leighton Buzzard could be included in this scheme when finalised and the
same opportunities could be offered to older people within the outlying
Parishes, specifically those featured within the Central Bedfordshire Public
Realm proposal.
Next Steps
At the next meeting on 15th October 2020, it was agreed to include the
following
(a) Helping organisations connect.
(b) Digital inclusion and how equipment would be funded or provided for
beneficiaries.
(c) To invite other organisations to the next meeting
(d) Questions to be agreed and provided for these organisations prior to the
meeting based on the themes of digital inclusion and connecting.
(e) Possible provision of webpage on the Town Council Website and how this
would be funded and maintained.
04/OP

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR
It was proposed and seconded that Councillor M Freeman be appointed Vice
Chair of the Older Persons Task and Finish Group. There were no further
nominations. On being put to the vote, the motion was carried.
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor M Freeman Vice Chair of the Older
Persons Task and Finish Group.

The meeting closed at 1126 hours.
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 OCTOBER 2020.

Page 16

Page 2

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

1 October 2020

Chair

15 October 2020

Page 17

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
OLDER PERSONS TASK AND FINISH GROUP
THURSDAY 15 OCTOBER 2020 AT 1000 HOURS
Present:

Councillors

Also in attendance:

05/OP

S Owen (Chair)
R Goodchild
M Freeman
G Perham
T Morris
K Cursons
V Cannon, Head of Cultural & Economic
Services
S Jewell, Older Persons Project Co-ordinator
M Jahn, Committee Officer
Gina Croxford Community Action Beds
Sharon Rogers, Carers in Bedfordshire
Penny Carmen, Community Wellbeing
Champion (social prescriber)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
No apologies were received.

06/OP

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No declarations of interest were received.

07/OP

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There were no questions from members of the public.

08/OP

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
(a) The Committee received the minutes of the Older Persons Task and Finish
Group meeting held on 1 October 2020.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Older Persons Task and Finish
Group meeting held on 1 October 2020 be approved as a correct
record and would be signed at a later date, when safe to do so.
(b) Further updates would be covered by the agenda items to follow.

09/OP

OLDER PEOPLE
(a)
Three guest speakers were welcomed to the meeting and invited to
speak regarding their group involvement in community projects.
Gina Croxford, CAB, informed the Group that her organisation provided

Page 19

Page 1

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

1 October 2020

community projects such as Jazz up your Life, work clubs, Café Connect to try
and combat loneliness for older people. Many people did not have digital
access and during the present climate this caused isolation for them. The
ability to connect digitally as well as 1-to-1 would greatly enhance their lives.
Sharon Rogers, Carers in Bedfordshire, informed the Group that her
organisation provided support for unpaid carers living in Central Bedfordshire.
This was achieved by 1-to-1 support, telephone befrienders, walking groups,
carers cafes, peer support and they also provide grants of up to £300 which
carers can use to enhance their daily life.
Many were not digitally included as they did not have access to equipment or
knowledge of how to use it. Digital inclusion was an important issue to
alleviate loneliness, but it was important to ensure users were advised how to
do this safely.
It was felt, however, that telephone contact with a regular person was a great
way to keep all included if using digital equipment was too involved for the
user.
Penny Carmen, Community Wellbeing Champion, joined the meeting but was
unable to retain access so could not speak.
(b)
The Task and Finish Group received an update report setting out how
the project had progressed and what the next steps would be.
Key areas which were highlighted at the previous meeting included lack of
digital inclusion, a gap in the groups being accessed by men causing
loneliness, the need of a central hub to access information, connectivity
between older people and the influence of Covid-19 on delivery options and
plans.
Members agreed in the short-term technology support/workshops could be run
via telephone and a page added to the Town Council website listing activities
and services. In the medium-term technology workshops could be run face to
face via befrienders, in community centres or libraries. Also an on-line directory
of organisations could be set up and these organisations could have their own
password to update the information on a regular basis.
In the longer term a tablet loan scheme in partnership with libraries, local
companies and community organisations could be set up to allow more digital
inclusion for older people. A question was raised regarding how people who
were shielding would access the equipment and it was agreed that the Yellow
Book for Older People would still be needed. An updated version should be
looked into and then distributed to as many older people as possible. This
should include local villages if possible. Councillor Owen asked if there was a
need for more telephone befrienders and should this idea be included in the
plan. It was agreed there was a huge need for telephone befrienders especially
in the current climate.
It was suggested that local IT companies could offer technological support and

Page 20

Page 2

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

1 October 2020

a helpline when tablets are being used. It was suggested the Library could
deliver tablets as they do books to isolated people, or local groups like
Leighton Linslade Helpers could assist in deliveries.
The Group agreed the next steps should be
(a) Research telephone befriending services
(b) Distribution of an updated Yellow Book for Older People and research costs
around an online directory of ‘services/activities’
(c) Support to set up a website for Helping Hands to assist people in locating
the service
(d) In the medium to longer term – set up of digital inclusion helpline, training
and a tablet loan scheme
Councillor Freeman informed the Group that Inspiring Music were looking into a
project to address loneliness through music and contact details were shared to look
into this. Sarah J confirmed she had contacted the group and would continue to follow
up the work.
Gina Croxford and Sharon Rogers were thanked for attending the meeting.
10/OP DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Older Persons T & F Group 29 October 2020 at 10.000 am
Cultural & Economic Services Meeting – 7 December 2020 at 7.30 pm

The meeting closed at 1117 hours.
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 5 OCTOBER 2020.
Chair

29 October 2020

Page 21

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
OLDER PERSONS TASK AND FINISH GROUP
THURSDAY 29 OCTOBER 2020 AT 1000 HOURS
Present:

Councillors

Also in attendance:

S Owen (Chair)
R Goodchild
M Freeman
G Perham (jointed at 10.23)
T Morris
K Cursons
V Cannon, Head of Cultural & Economic
Services
S Jewell, Older Persons Project Co-ordinator
M Jahn, Committee Officer

11/OP APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
No apologies were received.
12/OP DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No declarations of interest were received.
13/OP PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There were no questions from members of the public.
14/OP MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
(a)
The Committee received the minutes of the Older Persons Task and
Finish Group meeting held on 15 October 2020.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Older Persons Task and Finish Group
meeting held on 15 October 2020 be approved as a correct record and
would be signed at a later date, when safe to do so.
(b)

Further updates would be covered by the agenda items to follow.

15/OP OLDER PEOPLE
A report was given to the group to update the group on progress since the last
meeting.
(a) Befriending services – several options for befriending services exist within
Leighton-Linslade
and
include
different
forms
of
telephone
befriending/telephone welfare chats. Leighton Linslade Helping Hands and
Leighton Linslade Helpers both have capacity to assist with this service.

Page 23

Page 4

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

29 October 2020

(b) Older Persons Booklet – the last booklet was published in 2018 and much
of the information included would not be relevant at the present time as it
covers joining groups/attending meetings and should be included as a
medium term project rather than a short term one.
(c) Leighton Linslade Helping Hands Webpage – no web presence at the
moment and a simple website would be low cost and achievable target in
the short term with LLTC help.
(d) Digital Inclusion – discussions have taken place about adding a temporary
webpage to LLTC’s website listing activities/services as a stop-gap
directory whilst further research takes place on set up and costs for a full
on-line interactive directory of services where each organisation has their
own password to enable updates to information.
(e) Technology Helpline/Workshops – discussions have taken place with
CAB and BRCC regarding a helpline. They currently do not have capacity
so need to look at cost implications for a p/t coordinator and what would be
involved in running a helpline. The workshops would be a longer-term aim
when technology support could be offered to those housebound or the
possibility of workshops linked to the library or community groups.
(f) Tablet Loan scheme – this would be a longer-term project and information
would continue to be gathered on how this would function.
(g) On-Line Music Initiative - this was an area of interest regards activities for
older people but it does not currently fit with our immediate, short term
identified priorities and it was agreed this should be passed back to the
general grant scheme to cover this type of project funding.
(h) Draft Report for C & E Committee – a draft report had been created for
Cultural and Economic Services Committee meeting on 7 December. The
recommendations included what project activities need funding and could
be started in the short term.
Members of the group agreed that in the short term the Older Persons
Booklet should be circulated as an amended version taking out the
irrelevant information which would give people without on-line access some
physical information to refer to. Vivien Cannon advised this would be a
time-consuming task and suggested a volunteer could be asked to assist
with this task and then it could be included with the Bee Local delivery
and/or the About Town in Jan/February.
A suggestion was made to look into making an Older Persons Sub
Committee with 6 members which could continue the work started by the
Task and Finish Group until the Annual Meeting in 2022. This subcommittee could oversee the progress of the work and bring further
recommendations forward to Cultural and Economic Services for approval.
A question was also raised regarding what funding was available and what
the different projects would cost to initiate and their on-going costs. Initially

Page 24

Page 5

Older Persons Task & Finish Group

29 October 2020

projects would be set up locally within Leighton Linslade boundaries with
the possibility of expanding to the surrounding villages with additional
funding perhaps from the Parish Councils and/or CBC.
Members agreed that the officers should add the figures they anticipate
would be needed to the recommendation for Cultural and Economic
Committee and what projects would be included. It was suggested
approximately £30,000 should be ring fenced for this year with a growth
budget of £50,000 for next year.
16/OP DATE OF FUTURE MEETING
Cultural & Economic Services Meeting – 7 December 2020 at 7.30 pm

The meeting closed at 1115 hours.
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 OCTOBER 2020.
Chair

Page 25

Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26

Date:

7 December 2020

Purpose of the Report: Proposal for investment in activities/services to
support Older People
Contact Officer:

Sarah Jewell, C&E Services Support Officer

Corporate Objective/s
Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1.

No. 27 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure
opportunities for older people.
Yes
Yes Guide the work towards objective No.27
Yes

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.1

Budget allocation:
a) To recommend to Policy and Finance Committee that £30,000 of the
current £37,000 in Earmarked Reserve (Community Projects for older
persons and younger persons activities – 925/9507) be committed to
fund the delivery of the following project themes for the current
financial year in support of the older persons agenda:



Digital Inclusion,
Directory/ Information hub of activities & services,

b) To recommend to Policy and Finance Committee that the anticipated
project costs (up to a maximum of £50,000) for the financial period
2021/22 be met from the 5 Year Financial Plan – “Future Projects” for
the purposes of:




1.2

Digital inclusion,
Directory/ information hub,
Older Persons Visual identity - branding of work,
Direct support of local community activity groups.

To confirm Committee’s preferred option as set out below towards
developing its programme of work for meeting objective No. 27, “To

Page 27

consider ways to support the increase in leisure opportunities for older
people”:
a) To create an Older Persons Sub Committee to assist with the
progression of work and to bring forward detailed
recommendations for Committee’s consideration. That the Sub
Committee consist of 6 member Councillors, include noncouncillors, meet bimonthly and concluding its business on 31
March 2021 when its need and purpose can be reviewed. In
keeping with Standing Orders 2019 Ref. 4. a), b) and c).
b) To directly oversee work progress receiving regular update
reports and future recommendations from officers.

2

BACKGROUND

2.1

At its meeting on 09/12/2019, Committee resolved to convene an Older
Persons Task and Finish group to look into schemes for older people with a
view to a recommendation for the 2021/22 budget, Ref. 36/CE.

2.2

In the Council’s current year budget, £37k (925/9507) has been allocated for
supporting Young People and Older Persons projects. Given the level of
progress in formulating projects for older people, the Task and Finish (T&F)
now present the above recommendations at 1.1, a), and propose to commit
£30k of this budget to older persons projects.

2.3

In considering the future development of projects, T&F also propose additional
funding of £50,000 for 2021/2022, as per recommendation 1.1, b).

3

INFORMATION

3.1

Scoping exercise and its findings
The focus of this work is to explore what the Town Council can do to help
increase leisure opportunities for older people (as per Council objective No.
27). It was agreed to focus on older people over 55 years, with an interest in
those experiencing loneliness.
Online and hardcopy survey (appendix 1) was carried out with over 100
responses. The key findings were as follows:
a) U3A were the most frequently mentioned group people were members of,
followed by the Friday Club then the WI.
b) Company/Socialising and Interest/Theme/Hobby were the main purposes
stated for reasons people were members of a group.
c) When asked the reason respondents need a ‘new’ group or service, both
the reasons (in b) stayed high, but ‘Physical Activity’ shot up in
prominence. (NB, this could be due to shielding/people not able to get out

Page 28

during Covid-19)
d) Majority of groups that respondents were members of, are currently
suspended due to covid-19, those that were operating were doing so
online or in touch via email or telephone.
e) It was clear that respondents wanted groups during the week and
weekend and at various times of the day. Most respondents were willing to
pay a form of membership ‘sub’.
f) Gender split – on breaking down the responses by gender, it was apparent
that less men are currently part of a group (65% stated they are not part of
a group) and that men ‘state’ their reason for wanting to be part of a group
as being linked to interest/theme/hobbies and physical activities.
Meetings with charities, organisations, group leaders
Conversations were carried out with numerous organisations about their
beneficiaries/members including inviting some representatives to talk directly
at the Task & Finish Group. A meeting was held with the Head of Strategic
Commissioning, Adult Social Care and the Community Engagement Manager,
Central Bedfordshire Council. The officer attended the Healthwatch ‘Older
Peoples Festival’ (online) and a Community Catalyst hosted conference about
support schemes such as the Good Neighbours Scheme.
Overview of findings from this research:
a) There are a diverse number of groups available for different needs (e.g.
older people with different ailments, disabilities, support reasons), many
are on hold due to Covid-19, some have been transferred successfully
online.
b) Knowing what is happening in our community is hard – information
sources are very splintered – there is no one ‘information hub’.
c) Community members and organisations still think more activities/groups
are needed in Leighton Buzzard, but organisations themselves do not
have the human resource capacity to run them. Many say ‘funding’ is not
the issue.
d) Digital exclusion is a big issue. Covid-19 has shown that people being
digitally connected is increasingly the way of the world and supporting
older people in accessing this is important. Being intimidated/not knowing
how to use the technology is a big barrier to its use.
e) There are not as many opportunities for men – their needs/desires for a
‘group’ are specific.
f) When looking at supporting older people who are housebound and lonely,
one of the few avenues of practical support is ‘befriending services.
3.2

Identified needs gaps

3.2.1 Digital Inclusion
There is a clear need for ‘digital inclusion’ among this age group. This should
not come at the expense of hard copy information/activities being available,
but Covid-19 has shown us that supporting older people to use technology is
fundamental to reducing their isolation and loneliness. The urgent need could

Page 29

be addressed through a telephone ‘technology helpline’, with face-to-face
support and then group workshops being introduced.
3.2.2 Directory/information hub of activities and services for older people
Both individuals and organisations are struggling to find ‘one clear place’ to go
to which lists what is available - activities and service wise for older people.
The Older Peoples Directory, printed every 2 years, is good, but is not
comprehensive when it comes to activities. Plus, this information needs to be
available online, so that older people, their friends, family, and neighbours can
search up-to-date activities for them online.
3.2.3 Other areas of consideration:
a) Befriending services support – there is current capacity available,
should demand increase. The Town Council may wish to consider
supporting organisations/groups who offer this service. (see ‘Befriending in
Leighton Buzzard Table in appendix 2)
b) Activities specifically for older men – there is a needs gap for
groups/activities specifically catering for older men e.g. men in sheds ‘type’
offering – a preference being an activity-based reason to meet.
c) Activities in general for older people – most organisations (e.g.
Alzheimer Society, Carers in Bedfordshire etc.) said they didn’t have the
capacity to create new groups/activities for older people (funding was not
their issue, but human resources is). They said they desperately wanted to
see more activities for older people in Leighton Buzzard that they could
refer their beneficiaries to.
3.3

Covid-19
It is important to recognise that this project has been researched and driven
forward during Covid-19 when the circumstances that older people find
themselves in is very different to that which they would ‘normally’ face – in
many cases making this part of the community ‘more lonely’ than ever. We
have therefore created a time frame that looks at both ‘short term’ activities
during Covid-19 and longer-term heading into post-Covid-19 project
activation.

3.4

Project proposals

3.4.1 The identified priorities are outlined in the below table:

Area of focus

Project Activation
(time frame)
Short term
Medium term

Page 30

Long term

Digital
Inclusion

Directory/
Information
hub of
activities &
services

Technology helpline

Leighton Linslade
Helping Hands
website
Create ‘key
information for older
people’ to be placed
in About Town and
Bee Local
Town Council
webpage listing
known activities &
services

Technology workshops face
to face – in community
centres/libraries and via
befriending services
Tablet loan scheme through the library

Support a new updated ‘Yellow Booklet’ for older
people (Bassett Rd Surgery led directory)

An interactive ‘searchable’ online directory that
organisations and individuals can have password
access to for updating their activities/services
directly.

3.4.2 A fuller explanation of the proposed Technology helpline can be seen at
Appendix A, attached. It is proposed that a 2-year pilot scheme is set up.
Committee would seek to out-source the delivery and enter into a service
level agreement.
3.4.3 Upon assessing the scheme, and if successful, Committee would likely need
to consider any future funding commitment, e.g. an annual commitment,
possibly in perpetuity, lump sum to assist the delivery organisation’s taking
on of the service, or otherwise. Should the scheme prove effective, effort
would be made to secure external and partnership funding towards its running
costs and further development.
3.5

On-going support for older people
The initial scope of this project activity is looking at the short to medium term
support of older people through an officially coordinated technical helpline and
by creating a directory. In the medium to longer term, the Task & Finish Group
propose the Committee look at opportunities for additional project support
including:
a) Digital inclusion – the scoping of a ‘Tablet Loan Scheme’ that could
potentially be run from Leighton Buzzard Library.
b) A grant scheme to support an increase in activity groups. This could
include a specific focus on older men, an area identified as a gap in current
provision, or a separate project activity stream could be set up looking at
activities for men.
c) Befriending services – an on-going activity stream to assess and thereby
support organisations if and when, there is an increase in demand.

Page 31

3.6

Project costs
Estimated project costs are identified in the table below with some predicted
costs split over two years. Further exploration of costs will be required.
Areas of focus

Digital inclusion

Directory/
information hub

Older Persons
Visual identity branding of work
Direct support of
local activity
groups

Project
Leighton Linslade
Helping Hands
Website
Technology
helpline

Specific activity
Design of website
Domain name and
website hosting costs
Running helpline
including staff, IT etc.
Introduce face to face/
workshops in phase 2
Tablet loan scheme Set up including
purchase of x10 tablets,
annual SIM/data,
security, training and
scheme promotion.
Town Council
Design of webpage on
webpage
LLTC website
Interactive online
Compile all information to
directory
go on directory
External organisation to
design directory
Web hosting (including
security etc.)
Yellow Booklet & Creation and printing of
short version ‘key temporary ‘key info.’ for
information’ insert.
local publications
Yellow booklet - printing
and distribution of
updated version
Create an identity
Design of visual identity
for this ‘Older
(similar to Youth Promise
Peoples Project’
Grant identity)
Grant funding
Grants available to
scheme
support set up, or ‘on
going’ costs of activity
groups targeting older
people
TOTAL

Cost breakdown
(from quotes)
2020/21
2021/22
£250
£0
£150
£150
£14,500

£24,500

£1,000

£14,000

£500

£0

Staff time

Staff time

£10,000

£0

£350

£350

£1000

£0

£2000

£1000

£250

£0

£0

£10,000

£30,000

£50,000

4

PROGRESSING WORK

4.1

Committee is asked to consider how best to continue directing the work of
officers. Given that developmental work is ongoing and that the impact of

Page 32

Covid-19 has been both a significant influence on identifying need as well as
limiting officer ability to gain traction with community based organisations, T&F
members consider there is still much work to do in formulating the identified
projects on behalf of Committee.
4.2

With the above in mind, two approaches have been presented above in
recommendation 1.2. for consideration:
a) As per 1.2, a) – Standing Orders 2019, (No.4, a), permit Committee to
appoint a Sub Committee, “whose terms of reference and members shall
be determined by the committee. (No.4, b), The members of a committee
may include non-councillors unless it is a committee which regulates and
controls the finances of the Council. (No.4, c) Unless the Council
determines otherwise, all the members of an advisory committee and a
sub-committee of the advisory committee may be non-councillors.
b) As per 1.2, b) – Alternatively, Committee may wish to oversee and direct
the work officers directly in progressing the Council’s development of
strategic aim No. 27.

5

CONCLUSIONS

5.1

Research was made harder due to the suspension of community activities as
a result of Covid-19. This proved to be a key lesson in forming proposals for
Committee’s consideration. Three timescales have been identified:
a) During Covid – short to medium term,
b) Coming out of Covid - medium to long term,
c) Post Covid – long-term.

5.2

A high importance is given to the theme of ‘connectivity’ and the issue of
‘digital exclusion’ when gaining feedback from community infrastructure and
service organisations. Social interaction was a common thread for survey
respondents for engaging with a local group/activity.

5.3

Committee is initially asked to consider recommendations for the short to
medium term to keep older people connected with their families, communities,
and service providers. As people and services rely more on technology
platforms, the gap in technical skills and access to communications
equipment has been highlighted.

5.4

Research also identified other themes as listed under section 2.2 above,
which could be further developed over the medium to longer-term.

5.5

The work of the Task & Finish Group in overseeing the exploration of issues
and development of recommendations has concluded. As per para. 3.1
above, there is much potential for future development of work. Committee is
asked how it wishes to proceed in overseeing the furtherance of activities
presented above.

Page 33

End

Page 34

Cultural & Economic Services Committee

7 December 2021

Agenda Item 7.
APPENDIX A

Digital inclusion – Technology Helpline
Overview of proposed helpline
A headline ‘needs gap’ identified by the Task & Finish Group was digital inclusion, or
more accurately the current digital ‘exclusion’ of this age group. Covid-19 has shown
us that supporting older people to use technology is fundamental to reducing their
isolation and their loneliness and with concern over more housebound individuals
who cannot or prefer not to leave their home, creating connections with others
through a digital device, is key to their mental health.
This urgent need could be addressed through a telephone ‘technology helpline’, with
face-to-face support and workshops introduced when Covid-19 restrictions are
relaxed.
The training of volunteers in existing community groups who provide forms of
befriending such as Leighton Linslade Helping Hands can also be incorporated to
give them the tools to further support their current clients.
Similar schemes
AgeUK Milton Keynes have successfully run a technology help service (for the Milton
Keynes area only) for the past few years. Conversations with AgeUK Bedfordshire
demonstrated they were not considering running one for the Bedfordshire area at the
moment.
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/miltonkeynes/our-services/technology-help-service/
Carers in Bedfordshire have a (single) volunteer IT specialist who offers occasional
support to carers with digital access techniques. This has been well received by their
beneficiaries. This volunteer is not able to expand outside of ‘Carers in Bedfordshire’
but is willing to give advice/lessons learnt for a potential Leighton Buzzard helpline.
Who will run the helpline?
The Town Council will commission this service to be run by an external organisation.
The funding will go towards; a part time staff member coordinating the service,
allocating requests for help received via the helpline to expert technology volunteers
who can support that person with their digital needs, promotion of the scheme and it’s
potential expansion into face to face/ workshops when Covid-19 restrictions are
eased.
Future of helpline
The funding will support the initiative until March 2022, with a review of how the
service performed to inform whether this service receives continued support from the
Town Council and/or another external funder longer term.
Basic cost breakdown based on conversations with AgeUK MK and local groups
2020/2021 - £14,500 – Initial recruitment and wage of a p/t staff post, development
and set up of the scheme – free phone helpline, promotional literature, DBS checks
on volunteers etc. 4 months until new financial year.
2021/2022 - £21,000 – Wage of p/t staff post, ongoing running costs of scheme
(phone line, further DBS checks of volunteers, etc.) plus creation of face to face
workshops with community members. – 12 months of costs

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36

Agenda Item 8

Cultural and Economic Services Committee
Date:

7th December 2020

Purpose of the Report:

To provide an update on the events
programme and an outline plan for the
events programme in 2021

Contact Officer:

Ben Bodsworth, Town & Community
Promotions Manager

Corporate Objective/s

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1.

LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim: 2 – To continue to support
a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives
including management of the street market, support for
local businesses, town and community promotions and
town centre enhancements.
Yes Allocation of budget for the delivery of the events
programme in 2021
Yes Delivery of events programme in 2021

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.1

To endorse the allocation of £5,000 from the Christmas budgets (£2,500,
101/4511 & £2,500 101/4408) into earmarked reserves budget code
970/9057, for the trial of recorded music in the high street during an
appropriate period in 2021.

1.2

To endorse the proposed date of the first weekend in June for the Big
Lunch Food Festival in 2021 subject to local or national restrictions.

1.3

To endorse the postponement of Canal Festival in 2021 and replace it with
a film festival weekend on the last weekend of July subject to local or
national restrictions and a proportion of the budget allocated for Canal
Festival (101/4515) to deliver the film festival.

Page 37

1.4

To endorse the proposal to hold the Band Concerts throughout June to
September in Parson’s Close Recreation Park subject to local and
national restrictions.

1.5

To delay the Business Networking Event from April until September
subject to local and national restrictions.

1.6

To endorse the creation of a Task & Finish group to review the Living
History Event.

1.7

To endorse the delay of the Thanksgiving event and to allocate a £5,000
delivery budget from earmarked reserves (970/9057).

2.

INFORMATION

2.1

At the time of writing, England is within the national lockdown imposed between
5th November & 2nd December inclusive. The restrictions due to be imposed
from the 2nd December have not yet been announced and may impact on plans
outlined.

2.2

It is anticipated that for the duration of next summer a level of restriction or
requirement will be placed on event organisers over and above the parameters
in place pre-2020. Officers seek to undertake the most possible within the
restrictions and requirements, however, must plan for deliverable events within
these restrictions.

3.

UPDATE: LIVING HISTORY (OCTOBER & NOVEMBER)

3.1

Officers have been working with local shops and businesses to deliver a Living
History trail around the town centre accessible both in the town centre and
virtually.

3.2

Throughout October the hybrid of virtual and within town centre worked well
with 255 visits to the Living History webpage and 67 combined downloads of
the questions, leaflet and map.

3.3

Due to the national restrictions imposed, the trail around the town centre had to
be cancelled with members of the public encouraged to view the history of the
shops and businesses online only.

3.4

The online videos have been viewed over 6000 times combined across all
social media platforms, with each video lasting approximately two minutes and
have been well received.

3.5

At the time of writing, two videos are yet to be released which will conclude the
series on Thursday 25th November.

Page 38

4.

UPDATE: TOWN CENTRE MUSIC & LEISURE ACTIVITIES

4.1

Officers have been working on musical and street theatre performances to
compliment the pedestrianisation of the high-street throughout October and the
start of November.

4.2

Seven standalone performances took place within the high street with all being
enjoyed by those who were present at the time. Members of the public took
photo’s and shared with their friends and family across social media platforms.

4.3

Minimal publicity was provided for specific performances to reduce the
likelihood of crowds gathering and to assist with the requirements for social
distancing.

4.4

Due to the tightening of the restrictions, officers have cancelled the November
performances and await further information relating to local and national
restrictions whilst considering the town centre festive offering.

5.

UPDATE: CHRISTMAS FESTIVAL (DECEMBER)

5.1

Plans for the Christmas festival have been changed due to the national
lockdown imposed from the 5th November and may be required to change again
once updated restrictions are announced.

5.2

Scheduled to take place on Sunday 29th November, the Christmas Craft & Gift
Market has been re-scheduled to take place on Sunday 13th December from
11am – 3pm.
Officers are utilising the markets layout to ensure social distancing can be
maintained between stalls and the market will primarily be for the purchase of
gifts and crafts with 25 individual stall holders confirmed for the day.
Officers are awaiting updated information on restrictions prior to confirming
street theatre entertainment throughout the day.

5.3

A Christmas Charity Market is planned for Sunday 6th December, using the
market layout again to ensure social distancing can be maintained. 15 charities
have signed up to participate on the day and are required to be primarily raising
funds for their charity.

5.4

Following the success of the online band concerts throughout summer, officers
are continuing to work with two local bands to deliver an online Christmas
performance.
Due to the new restrictions, one band has been unable to perform and
rehearse. The second band has been able to produce an online concert which
is scheduled to be played across Leighton-Linslade Town Council social media
platforms on Sunday 20th December.

Page 39

5.5

A trial of the performance of recorded music within the High Street throughout
the month of December had been planned using existing lamppost and wi-fi
infrastructure. Due to the uncertainty around the restrictions which will be in
place after the 2nd December, the costs involved in the trial period and the lead
time in confirming the requirements with suppliers, officers are proposing to
delay to the trial period in 2021, lasting for one month.
A better representation of the response from market traders, shop keepers and
members of the public can be gained through a more representative period
when visitors to the High Street are also encouraged to dwell in the area.

6.

BIG LUNCH (JUNE 2021)

6.1

The Big Lunch Food Festival takes place annually on the first Sunday in June
within the High Street, attracting up to 4000 people.

6.2

The Big Lunch was cancelled in 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic with a
highlights of 2018 / 2019 festivals shared across our social media platforms.

6.3

It is expected that throughout 2020 a requirement to comply with NHS Test &
Trace requirements will be placed upon event organisers.

6.4

Within the high street there are many entrances and exits along with businesses
who require to operate as normal during the event. It would be impracticable to
install the infrastructure required to comply with the Test & Trace requirements
with this many entrance ways whilst also allowing high street businesses to
operate as normal.

6.5

Officers are undertaking location feasibility studies for the Big Lunch Food
Festival at alternative venues in consultation with wider service colleagues,
whilst also looking to maximise the number of people able to attend.

6.6

To maximise the number of people able to attend, officers are investigating the
practicalities of running the festival over two days, with two sessions per day. It
is likely that 500 – 600 people would be able to attend each session.

6.7

In anticipation of needing to ensure social distancing can be maintained and to
comply with Test & Trace elements, ticketing for the festival would be required
however, tickets would be free.

6.8

Officers seek to maximise the audience for the event but must be mindful of the
likely requirements which will be placed upon the event.

7.

CANAL FESTIVAL (JULY 2021)

7.1

The Canal Festival takes place annually on the last Saturday in July within

Page 40

Tiddenfoot Waterside Park, attracting up to 8000 people throughout the day
annually.
7.2

The Canal Festival was cancelled in 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic with
highlights of the 2019 festival shared across our social media platforms.

7.3

As with Big Lunch, it is anticipated that event organisers will be required to
comply with both NHS Test & Trace and social distancing requirements
throughout summer 2021.

7.4

Tiddenfoot Waterside Park has several entrances and exits throughout the
parkland and tow path meaning extensive infrastructure would be required to
ensure test & trace compliance at the event.

7.5

Social distancing of 2m (or 1m+ control measure) is impractical to implement
or enforce on the tow path of the canal due to the narrow nature of the path in
places, therefore, the tow path isn’t able to be used as part of the event.
Most of the footpaths around the poplars and lakeside areas are also
insufficient to allow social distancing to take place in and around the exhibition
areas.

7.6

By removing the tow path from the event footprint, we are unable to host the
Canal Boats at the festival which is one of the main attractions at the event.
The lack of suitable exhibition space for rural crafters, food stalls and charities
within the poplars and lakeside areas significantly changes the style of event
which we can hold within the space.

7.7

To preserve the quality and high standard of the canal festival, officers are
proposing to postpone the canal festival in 2021 with a view to it returning in
2022.

7.8

To continue to offer an event at the end of July, officers are proposing a film
screening weekend to be held in the paddocks area of Tiddenfoot Waterside
Park over the last weekend in July.

7.9

Throughout the weekend several films will be shown suitable for a variety of
ages with members of the public able to reserve free tickets to the screenings
to comply with NHS Test & Trace requirements.

7.10

Limited food and drink concessions will be available throughout the weekend
for the screenings.

7.11

Should the film screening be successful officers will seek to offer a second day
of film screening prior to the Last Night of the Proms event due to take place in
September.

7.12

A proportion of the budget allocated for Canal Festival (101/4515) will be used

Page 41

to deliver the film festival.

8.

MUSIC IN THE PARK (JUNE – SEPTEMBER 2021)

8.1

Due to Covid-19, live music in the park performances throughout the summer
were cancelled, with shorter, online versions produced. Combined viewing
figures show these were enjoyed by over 5500 Facebook viewers.

8.2

It is hoped that in 2021 we will be able to hold in-person band concerts once
again between June & September on Sunday afternoons beginning at 3pm.

8.3

Officers begin liaising with performing bands throughout December to book a
performance slot and will discuss with each band their social distancing
requirements which will mean some bands will be unable to use the bandstand
for their performance. It is hoped bands will be able to perform by observing
social distancing and performing without the cover of the bandstand.

8.4

To comply with NHS Test & Trace requirements, officers are investigating
ticketing options to ensure a smooth entry procedure for those attending as well
as providing an area for the performance to take place in.

8.5

Due to the requirements for performers to socially distance and the lack of cover
which would normally be offered by the bandstand, a lower tolerance of bad
weather will need to be afforded to the performances.

8.6

A minimum of one member of town council or contracted staff will need to attend
each concert to ensure the requirements for social distancing and NHS Test &
Trace are met.

8.7

Officers are investigating options for the Last Night of the Proms performance
which would be due to take place on Saturday 11 th September 2021 and will
provide updates for the next committee meeting.

9.

BUSINESS NETWORKING EVENT (SEPTEMBER 2021)

9.1

Due to Covid-19 the Business Network Event scheduled to take place in April
2020 was one of the first events to be cancelled.

9.2

Due to the internal nature of the event, coupled with the requirement to mix with
a large group of people, it is impracticable to seek to hold the event in April.

9.3

Officers are hopeful that by delaying the event until September 2021 (date to
be confirmed) the restrictions in place will allow conferencing / networking
events to take place with appropriate control measures to mitigate against the
risk of viral transmission.

Page 42

9.4

In addition to the delay, officers will be seeking a venue space which is large
enough to accommodate the expected attendance and provides good
ventilation.

9.5

Officers will also consider the requirements placed upon events of this kind by
local or national restrictions and may seek to alter some of the elements of the
event to aid with compliance e.g. a revised catering offer.

10.

LIVING HISTORY (OCTOBER)

10.1

The Living History event has traditionally taken place at the start of October
annually, and since 2017 has run alongside the Charter Market in the High
Street.

10.2

Whilst other Council events have been reviewed and delivery enhanced or
amended, the Living History event has not. Identifying a direction for its future
would be beneficial and assist to direct the future work of officers to ensure the
budget spend remains appropriate and activities remain vibrant and relevant to
the promotion of the Town’s History.

10.3

It is proposed that Committee set up a Task & Finish group to consider the
future of the event and associated budget spend. The outcome of the group’s
review will be bought back to Committee for its consideration at its meeting in
1st March 2021.

11.

THANKSGIVING EVENT (Date to be Confirmed)

11.1

Officers had been tasked to work on a thanksgiving event to be held for key
workers, NHS staff and those affected by Covid-19.

11.2

It was hoped that the event could be attended by local community and faith
groups as well as members of the public and an online audience. Given the
ongoing nature of the pandemic, officers are recommending that this be
delayed until such time that audiences may gather.

11.3

Officers are seeking re-allocate a proportion of the music in the park budget to
facilitate a Thanksgiving event for key workers, NHA staff, volunteers and those
affected by Covid-19.

12

CONCLUSIONS

12.1

Members will appreciate that planning future delivery of the 2021 event
programme is difficult and has additional complexities due to Covid. The above

Page 43

proposed activities are believed, at the time of writing, to be possible and
consider recent Covid led guidance and rules when our community is not in
lockdown. All the actions will be undertaken in consultation with the Council’s
Health and safety Officer lead.

End.

Page 44

Agenda Item 9

Cultural & Economic Services Committee
Date:

7 December 2020

Title:

TACTIC service update

Purpose of the Report:

To update members of work at TACTIC in
August, September, October 2020

Contact Officer:

Linda Farmer, TACTIC Centre Manager

Corporate Objective/s

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1.

VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF TOWN AND TOWN CENTRE
No.26 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure and
personal development opportunities for youth, incorporating
ongoing feedback from young people and considering
suitability of delivery locations for youth work.
Yes

Spend of earmarked (970/9020) reserves to fund the
CHUMS service

Yes

General Update

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should Members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.2

To endorse that a total of £4,719.60 be allocated from TACTIC earmarked
reserves to commission CHUMS to deliver the Talk-space Wellbeing
Service in 2021/22, and that it is split into £3,855.60 from 970/9020 and
£864 from 970/9049, as per para. 5.2.

1.3

To carry forward unused funds from budget line 104/4100 (maintenance)
into earmarked reserves to facilitate future building repairs and
maintenance, as per para 8.1.

1.4

To carry forward unused funds from budget line 104/4014 (projects) to
assist with project work delivery in 2021/22, as per para 3.4

2

WORK DELIVERY UPDATES FOR AUGUST, SEPTEMBER, OCTOBER 2020

2.1

General Youth Work - The list below shows the themes of work undertaken in
quarter 2:

Page 45













2.2

Tang Group (TACTIC Additional Needs Group)
Young Persons Drop In Youth Forum
Basketball
Outreach
Mentoring
Older Persons Christmas Hampers
Schools Offer
Volunteer Training
Young Peoples Awards
Work Club
National Youth Work Week Campaign

Key Project Work:

2.2.1 Outreach Sessions:
Staff continued to deliver sessions during September and were able to continue
delivering support to the young people whilst TACTIC was closed.
2.2.2 Drop-In sessions:
TACTIC have phased back in their weekly youth drop-ins for the young people,
and whilst strict COVID-19 rules and measures are in place, it is pleasing to
see some of the most vulnerable young people attending. Numbers are
restricted to 10 (with staff) but has proven to be successful to date allowing staff
to maintain support and contact with the group. Sessions ran for 6 weeks but
are now suspended due to the second COVID-19 lockdown.
2.2.3 Youth Forum / National Youth Work Week:
Young people were supported to work together with Central Bedfordshire
Council (CBC) Youth workers to run their campaign celebrating National Youth
work week. This year’s theme was ‘Ambitious for Youth Work’, and the group
put together various video and photo messages that were posted on Social
Media Platforms throughout Youth Work week - 2nd to 8th November
2.2.4 Youth Awards:
Together with the Grants Sub Committee, Staff are supporting the delivery of
awards for young people who are nominated for either of the following criteria:
 Personal Achievement,
 Overcoming Barriers.
Closing date for nominations is 30th November and winners will be chosen by
Committee panel and awards presented in early December. (date to be
confirmed)
2.2.5 Older Persons Christmas Hampers:
Unfortunately, due to COVID-19 we are unable to deliver the annual Older
Persons Christmas Lunch. However, to ensure we reach out to these residents,
we are preparing Christmas Hampers to be doorstep delivered to their homes
in December. It is anticipated 50 hampers will be dispatched. This is being
supported by local supermarkets, Morrison’s, Co-op and Waitrose.

Page 46

3.

SATELLITE PROJECTS

3.1

Basketball
Having been postponed due to COVID-19, basketball resumed in September
and continued through until November. Due to dark evenings and being unable
to secure indoor venue until next year, the sessions have now stopped for the
winter months. It was pleasing to see the regular group come back and join us
after such a long break.

3.2

TANG (TACTIC Additional Needs Group)
We re-opened in September following the recent COVID-19 restrictions, and all
the regular members are now attending. Sessions are run in a socially distant
manner with all necessary measures in place. The group remains open during
this second lockdown as a supportive service.

3.3

Box Release:
Due to Covid-19 the project that was due to start in April 2020 had to be
postponed. However, the budget for this of £2,139.20 (410/4401) , earmarked
from Operation Dodford, is still in place and it is hoped to commence this project
in the new year depending on Government guidelines. Prior to lockdown some
of the budget was used for start-up resources to support the activity (£707.78)
however, the remainder is still available for delivery of the project. (£1,431.42).

3.4

It is requested that current underspend of project money be carried over to next
year’s budget to enable TACTIC to provide more quality activities in 2021, that
otherwise would not be possible within the usual budget allocation. For
example, projects such as Box Release and Basketball were reliant on
additional funding in order to proceed, so it is proposed this money be carried
over to fund projects such as this in 2021.

4.

SCHOOLS OFFER

4.1

Due to the lockdown a vast amount of school workshop delivery was
postponed. We are now back up and running in some of the schools including
Cedars, Vandyke, Brooklands, and Gilbert Inglefield. A variety of workshops
have been requested by the schools to cover subjects such as, Protective
Behaviours, Healthy Relationships and in particular Anxiety. Delivery has
commenced and schools are happy for youth workers to attend during second
lockdown as a supportive service.

5.

MENTORING AND ONE TO ONE SUPPORT

5.1

Throughout lockdown staff continued to provide 1-1 support to young people
via telephone. Now the centre has reopened we are able to meet the young
people within the TACTIC centre for socially distanced face to face sessions.
In addition, we have been called back into the schools to support students on
a 1-1 basis. Many of the issues identified are around anxiety and how they

Page 47

have coped during lockdown. Currently staff are working with 16 cases each
week.
5.2

6.

Due to Covid-19 restrictions the commissioned Talk-Space service ceased to
operate. This created a saving in the original allocated earmarked reserves
budget of £662.40. Anticipating the ongoing and future need for the service, it
is recommended to allocate TACTIC earmarked reserves to the sum of
£4,719.60 to commission the work in 2021/22 (split into £3,855.60 from
970/9020 and £864 from 970/9049). .A new service agreement will be entered
into for this period. Whilst the requested amount is for the academic year of 39
weeks, it is proposed that the service will be reviewed and commissioned on a
monthly basis.
TRAINING

6.1

Staff are working together with MENCAP to deliver training to their newly
recruited volunteer young people. Up to 9 young people attended training over
3 sessions to enable them to understand the roles and responsibilities of a
young volunteer. It is planned to follow this up with First Aid training in the new
year.

6.2

TACTIC Staff are receiving 4 sessions of inhouse refresher training including
Professional Boundaries, Data Protection and County Lines.

6.3

Following on from the Black Lives Matter National Campaign, Staff have
attended 3 sessions of Equality and Diversity Training. These sessions were
designed to focus on the wider subject of Diversity and to allow staff to reinforce
and refresh themselves on the subject.

6.3

Alongside the above training, TACTIC delivered a thought-provoking window
display for Black History Month incorporating discussion points on Black Lives
Matter. TACTIC received several communications thanking the service for the
display. An example of which is shared below:
“I would just like to say that I was really pleased to see black history month
being showcased by TACTIC. Every weekend I walk with my daughter into town
to the market and we always look in the windows of shops, etc., as we go by.
And just having this little educational stop on the way was really beneficial. It
got us talking about a lot of things I think I wouldn't have otherwise known about
in terms of the history of Leighton Buzzard and the contributions from a lesser
known part of society. My daughter was also really interested in how other kids
feel growing up and feeling/being treated differently. Anyways, wanted to say
well done for that and look forward to more conversation starters from the
TACTIC windows!”

7.

ATTENDANCE STATISTICS

7.1

Figures for this quarter remain low due to Covid-19 restrictions with activity
resuming from September 2020. Activity has again been impacted upon by the
second November lockdown.

Page 48

7.2

Attendance during September and October increased slightly due to restrictions
being eased and Drop-In session resuming with limited numbers. The recent
one to one figures remained steady during lockdown with telephone
consultations taking place. Once TACTIC was able to resume face to face
sessions, attendance increased with currently 16 young people receiving
support. Most of the requests for support relate to anxiety issues, particularly
around COVID-19 and the lockdowns, others were around relationships and
family.

Aug - Oct 18-20
Under 16
16 & Over
Male
Female
Total YP

2018
708
256
475
598
1073

Page 49

2019
705
228
468
656
1125

2020
73
39
104
74
194

7.3

School work is slowly increasing with workshops planned for the coming
months up until Christmas. Both Cedars and Vandyke have requested
support with small groups of students around protective behaviours and
Anxiety related issues.

8.

TACTIC BUILDING

8.1

During this year staff took the opportunity to decorate the interior. Over the
coming months the roof of the toilet block will receive some attention to remove
moss and ensure sufficient drainage. Given the age of the building and the need
to upkeep it, it would be prudent to ensure sufficient funds are in place for larger
upgrades and repairs. For this reason, it is proposed to carry forward
underspend of the maintenance (104/4100) budget into earmarked reserves.

9.

CONCLUSION

9.1

As with all Council services, the TACTIC experienced disruption causing young
people to lose a regular source of face to face support. Staff have supported
council-wide services during lock down whilst maintaining ongoing contact with
peers and vulnerable young people known to them.

9.2

During 2020, the commissioned Talk-Space service ceased to operate. This
created a saving in the original allocated earmarked reserves budget of
£662.40. Anticipating the ongoing and future need for the service, it is
recommended to once again reserve funds from TACTIC earmarked reserves
to the sum of £4,719.60 to commission the work in 2021/22. A new service
agreement will be entered into for this period.

9.3

Future Project Work over the coming months include:








Basketball satellite sport project at Pages Park/ Brooklands School
TANG (TACTIC Additional Needs Group)
Youth Work Week (November 2020)
Christmas Hampers doorstep dropped for ‘older’ residents
Volunteer training
Return of Youth Drop in
Work Club support project

END

Page 50

Agenda Item 10

Cultural and Economic Services Committee
Date:

7 December 2020

Title:

Town Centre pigeon management

Purpose of the Report:

To consider pigeon management options

Contact Officer:

Vivien Cannon, Head of Cultural and Economic
Services

Corporate Objective/s
Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal

LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 2. Objective 19
Yes £40k ringfenced by the Council to address pigeon
management. (Future Projects - 925/9033)

Yes Address responsibilities and liabilities between the
Council and the host of the ABP facility.

Risk/Health and
Safety

1.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.1

Subject to the necessary agreements in place and an appropriate location
identified and secured, that the Town Council installs and manages an
artificial breeding programme to control the pigeon population within the
town centre.

1.2

To establish a one-off grant scheme of £34k (Future Projects, 925/9033)
for independent shops to assist with the installation of pigeon proofing
scheme on their premises.

1.3

To delegate decisions for awarding grants to the Committee Chair, Deputy
Chair and Town Clerk to facilitate the timely delivery of works.

1.

BACKGROUND

2.1

Three projects not funded by the Market Town Regeneration Fund are set out
below and with pigeon management remaining an outstanding action. The
original bid process required the Council to match fund proposed projects. It
was agreed to ringfence the match funding to deliver the below three projects:
 WiFi was subsequently sponsored through s106 finding.
 Committee allocated £40k towards delivery and management of the Living
History Trail.

Page 51

 Pigeon management funding remains ringfenced within the Future Projects
cost centre at £40k (925/9033).
2.

INFORMATION

2.1

Officers have been advised that undertaking a concentrated termination of the
pigeon population may initially show an impact, however the reactive behaviour
of the flock is to breed-up resulting in an increase on previous population levels
to combat the threat to the flock. The recommendation is to initiate an artificial
breeding programme (ABF).

2.2

Committee is advised that the reason that ABP’s are considered effective is
that pigeons are prolific breeders. Full information can be read in Appendix A
(attached).
“Pigeons breed all year round and produce 2 young each time they breed. A
normal pair of adult pigeons can produce up to 16 young each year in optimum
conditions. Therefore, irrespective of what conventional controls are provided,
if breeding continues unrestricted flock size can increase at a staggering rate.
The following example, based on one breeding pair of pigeons over 12 months,
gives an idea of how effective one small ABF can be:
• One adult pair of pigeons produce 13/14 young per year in optimum conditions
(taking 15% juvenile mortality into consideration),
• Those young birds form into 6 further breeding pairs and each young pair
breeds once in their first year of life bringing approximately 10 more young
into the world (considering 15% juvenile mortality),
• The original adult pair has produced 13/14 young and these young birds have
paired and produced a further 10 young birds,
• This is a total of 23/24 young birds produced courtesy of the original adult pair
in one year,
• If you persuade the original adult pair to use an artificial breeding facility
instead of breeding in an uncontrolled environment, the result is that 23/24
young birds are taken out of the system in one year via egg
removal/replacement with dummy eggs,
•Therefore, if 50 adult pairs are resident in one loft and all their eggs are
removed over 12 months the number of young birds taken out of the system
rises to over 1150, courtesy of one pigeon loft.”

2.3

The proposal is to undertake a long-term approach to managing the pigeon
population. This means that pigeons will never be eradicated, yet the population
can be better managed.

2.4

Once the ABP is installed and operational, the ongoing management of the
facility will be passed over to the Town Council and internal capacity has been
identified and agreed in liaison with the Grounds and Environmental Service
team. Details of what the process and timescale would be for initiating the ABP
can be found at Appendix B, (attached).

2.5

At the time of writing this report, Officers learnt that the proposed venue for
siting the ABP is no longer available. Officers will continue to search for an

Page 52

alternative location and seek Committee endorsement that once a location is
identified, that Officers can pursue the delivery of the ABP.
3.

PROPOSALS

3.1

There are two elements being proposed. That of an ABP and a grant scheme
targeted at independent Town Centre based businesses to assist with installing
pigeon proofing equipment. The timing of installing and initiating the ABP will
need to benefit from wider town pigeon proofing activities being proposed, i.e.
independent shop grant scheme for pigeon proofing. The ABF needs to be
installed ready to receive pigeons ‘evicted’ from their current roosts. The grant
scheme needs to be activated and in delivery prior to the ABP to encourage
pigeons to take up the new ABP roost. Both elements could be stand-alone
however, the combined approach can assist a greater effect.

3.1.1 Whilst the identified location is currently no longer available, and with the
knowledge that pigeon proofing of town centre buildings remains the first phase,
Committee may wish to continue with the grant element of the pigeon
management programme.
3.1.2 Artificial Breeding Programme (ABP):
 This approach requires a discrete town centre roof top location.
 The host venue must have easy, safe access to the roof and the roof must be
in a robust state.
 Officers have approached the site agent for a local facility and an approach
has been made requesting they host the pigeon loft.
 Council will need to enter negotiations with the host to ensure appropriate
written agreements are in place setting out responsibilities and liabilities. The
Council’s insurers will need to advise and lawyer fees ae likely to be incurred.
 The Head of Grounds and Environmental Services has indicated his
agreement to allocate staff to undertake the regular cleaning of the loft and
pigeon management activity.
 After the initial and low set-up costs, the ABF can continue at low cost – repairs
and general maintenance, disinfection spray costs only.
 The proposed set-up timescale is five weeks inclusive of a handover in week5.
 Set up and initiation would cost circa £5,300.
3.1.3 Pigeon Management Grant Scheme:
The purpose of this grant is to assist independent businesses to support the
Town Council and its residents in reducing the pigeon population within the
Town Centre. Grants funds are being made available for the sole purpose of
installing pigeon proofing schemes on independent business premises. Grant
documentation is set out at Appendix C (attached).
 Budget allocation £34,000, (Future Projects, 925/9033).
 A single grant payment towards the cost of pigeon proofing works.
 A maximum grant of £2,000. To be awarded once the works are completed.
 Businesses responsible for gaining 3 quotes and identifying their preferred

Page 53

options.
 Applicants to confirmation their self-funding contribution towards the works.
 Grant released upon provision of an invoice, evidence of self-funded
payments and pictures of completed works.
 Launch date for grant scheme 2nd January. Closing date 26th February, and
work completion date 31st March 2021
4.

CONCLUSION

4.1

Pigeons are synonymous with town centres locations with an abundance of
roosting areas and food. It is unlikely that pigeons will be eradicated. The ABP
provides a low-cost and long-term approach to reducing and managing the
pigeon population.

4.2

Town centre premises need to be ‘pigeon proofed’ where possible to remove
roosting locations which will encourage pigeons to utilise, when installed, the
ABP. Independently of the ABP, business premises can directly help towards
the reduction of pigeons in the town centre by removing roosting places.

4.3

The above two proposals could be delivered independently of each other. The
advantage of combining them is that one benefits the other thus improving the
success for introducing the ABP.

End

Page 54

Cultural and Economic Services
Pigeon Management

7 December 2020
Appendix A

Information on installing a pigeon loft for the purpose of flock reduction:
Installing a Pigeon Loft for the use of an artificial breeding programme (ABF’s): This method
of control is of particular benefit where pigeon-related problems have been ongoing for many
years. The principal of this system is to encourage pigeons away from their existing roosting
and perching areas, by installing deterrents and anti-roosting control where needed, and into
the loft facilities where the pigeons will be encouraged to roost and breed. Eggs will then be
removed and replaced with dummy eggs, this a humane and integrated approach to pigeon
control, rapidly reducing the flock size on the local buildings and across the town. The project
has long term sustainability becoming exceptionally cost-effective across its many years of
service.
Using an artificial breeding facility as part of an Integrated Bird Management Programme:
ABF’s can be used as a stand-alone control method and can be highly effective in doing so,
however, to increase the efficiency of the unit it is recommended to be used as part of an areawide control system in conjunction with deterrents and anti-roosting installations across the
town. A designated feeding area with daytime perches will also prove beneficial to the town
and overall pigeon control. Flock Reduction: Once pigeons are using the loft for night-time
roosting and breeding the flock size can be controlled by birth control. This is achieved by
removing eggs when laid and replacing them with dummy eggs. This method of control will
dramatically and effectively reduce pigeon flock size down to an acceptable size.
Here are the facts: The reason that ABF’s are so effective is that pigeons are prolific breeders.
Pigeons breed all year round and produce 2 young each time they breed. A normal pair of
adult pigeons can produce up to 16 young each year in optimum conditions. Therefore,
irrespective of what conventional controls are provided if breeding continues unrestricted flock
size can increase at a staggering rate. The following example, based on one breeding pair of
pigeons over 12 months, gives an idea of how effective one small ABF can be:
• One adult pair of pigeons produce 13/14 young per year in optimum conditions (taking 15%
juvenile mortality into consideration)
• Those young birds form into 6 further breeding pairs and each young pair breeds once in
their first year of life bringing approximately 10 more young into the world (considering 15%
juvenile
mortality)
• The original adult pair has produced 13/14 young and these young birds have paired and
produced a further 10 young birds
• This is a total of 23/24 young birds produced courtesy of the original adult pair in one year

• If you persuade the original adult pair to use an artificial breeding facility instead of breeding
in an uncontrolled environment the result is that 23/24 young birds are taken out of the system
in one year via egg removal/replacement with dummy eggs
• Therefore, if 50 adult pairs are resident in one loft and all their eggs are removed over 12
months the number of young birds taken out of the system rises to over 1150, courtesy of one
pigeon loft
Case Studies found from research carried out: “Loft-based systems can become effective
within a matter of weeks following installation. One NHS hospital installed two basic lofts on a
site experiencing deeply entrenched pigeon-related problems was removing 40 eggs per week

Page 55

Cultural and Economic Services
Pigeon Management

7 December 2020
Appendix A

from the lofts within 2 months of siting the facilities. The great benefit of a loft-based system
is that pigeons will readily use any type of purpose-built structure (providing that it has been
designed with the pigeon in mind) and exploit it for breeding. Dedicated pigeon lofts will not
only attract breeding pairs of pigeons, but non-breeding birds will also readily take up
residence in these facilities.”
Long-term Goals: To stabilise flock size to an acceptable level and that pigeon-related
problems, such as the soiling of buildings and feeding in sensitive areas, had reduced
dramatically throughout the town centre. This will be an excellent working example of how
councils can and should work in partnership with retailers, Building owners, pigeon feeders.
Optional:
Further Measures to assist with the programme: Each town has pigeon feeders; they are part
of the local community and will layout food for pigeons around the town. To combat this and
help to move the pigeons away from sensitive areas within the town centre, designate an area
for bird feeding, this can be a park or public open space. By installing day perches and
providing a feeding area pigeons will be drawn away from the town, in doing so there will now
be 2 controlled areas.

Page 56

Cultural and Economic Services
Pigeon Management

7 December 2020
Appendix B

Artificial Breeding Programme - Pigeon Loft Set up Method and time scales:
Before set-up:
 Install spikes to air conditioning units to prevent perching
 Cleaning schedule
 Feeding schedule
 Bird Care Schedule
 Reporting Schedule
 Artificial Breeding Unit hand over schedule
Week One:
 Supply and install Pigeon Loft
 Site Toolbox to house feed, tools and cleaning products.
 Fit-out pigeon loft with breeding boxes and roosting points
 Start to encourage pigeons to nest.
 Pigeon Proofing works to be carried out throughout the town where possible *
Week Two:
 Continue to encourage pigeons to nest
 Cleaning, Feeding and Care Schedule.
 Carry out checks for nest building and breeding
Week Three:
 Walk around with council to assess new day perch areas if any, report with
recommendations.
 Continue to encourage pigeons to nest.
 Cleaning, Feeding and Care Schedule
 Carry out checks for nest building and breeding
Week Four:
 Walk around with council to assess new day perch areas if any, report with
recommendations
 Cleaning, Feeding and Care Schedule
 Carry out checks for eggs replace with dummy units
Week Five:
 Artificial breeding Unit hand-over to be implemented/revised
 Walk around with council to assess new day perch areas if any, report with
recommendations
 Cleaning, Feeding and Care Schedule
 Carry out checks for eggs replace with dummy units
 Spray loft for bird mites
Week Six:
 LLTC staff lead on daily work – Grounds and Environmental Services
 Cleaning, Feeding and Care Schedule
 Spray loft for bird mites (bi-weekly)

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58

PIGEON MANAGEMENT GRANT - INFORMATION
A. WHAT TYPE OF WORK CAN BE FUNDED?
The purpose of this grant is to assist independent businesses to support the Town
Council and its residents in reducing the pigeon population within the Town Centre.
Grants funds are being made available for the sole purpose of installing pigeon proofing
schemes to independent business premises.
There is a total of £34,000 of grant funds available.
B. HOW MUCH CAN BE APPLIED FOR?
Up to a maximum of £2,000. The applicant must fund the remainder of the costs for
work. The amount of grant funding to be approved may be less than the amount
requested.
C. WHAT COMMITMENT IS NEEDED FROM THE APPLICANT?
The applicant must seek 3 quotations and submit them with the application form, clearly
identifying the preferred quote.
Installation of apparatus must be completed before the agreed grant funds will be
released.
To release funds, the applicant must provide the Council with a copy of the invoice,
evidence that the applicant has paid their contribution and pictures of the completed
work if available.
D. WHAT WILL NOT BE FUNDED?
Retrospective works.
The cost of scaffolding will not be funded.
E. WHEN TO APPLY
The grant fund is open from 2nd January 2021.
The closing date for applications is Friday 26th February 2021, by 5.00pm.
F. APPLICATION PROCEDURE
Once the application has been received by the Council, it will be checked to ensure all
relevant details are provided.
The application will be presented to the Cultural and Economic Services Committee
Chair, Deputy Chair and Town Clerk for their delegated decision on whether a grant will
be approved.
Decisions will be made in writing and there is no appeals process.
The applicant will be expected to commission and complete the works before 31st
March 2021.

Page 59

PIGEON MANAGEMENT GRANT - TERMS AND CONDITIONS
A.

B.
C.

D.
E.
F.
G.

If there is a serious breach of terms & conditions, if the business ceases to operate
before funds have been spent, or if the project does not proceed as planned, the
grant will have to be repaid.
Anyone found to be acting dishonestly in making the application or spending the
grant would be reported to the police and might face prosecution.
All applications will be considered by the relevant Committee, where decisions are
made to approve or refuse applications. The amount of grant funding to be
approved may be less than the amount requested. Meetings are open to members
of the press and public, with meeting minutes published on the Town Council’s
website.
A grant may only be used for the purpose set out in the application form and it
cannot be given to any other group.
Recognition of any grant made by the Town Council must be made in any publicity
and in the business accounts.
The Town Council may ask you to attend the meeting at which the application will
be considered and/or to attend a reception to receive the cheque.
The Town Council reserves the right to amend any policy, procedures, and
assessment criteria for grants at any time.

Page 60

PIGEON MANAGEMENT GRANT - APPLICATION FORM
Name of Applicant:
Name of Business:
Business Address:

Telephone:
Email:
Please circle:

Mobile:
Premises
Owner

Land Line:

Premises Landlord

Premises Tennant

Detail of Works proposed:
(Add a second sheet if
necessary)

Duration of works:

Costings
Item:

Costs:
£
£
£
£
£
£
TOTAL

£

Grant amount applied for: £
Amount self-funded: £

Page 61

Have 3 quotes already
been obtained?
(please circle)

Yes

No

If yes, who from?
(Please attach)

I confirm that I have the permission from the owner of the premises to undertake the works listed
above.
I confirm that I have the authority to apply for the grant on behalf of the business and premises.
I agree that if successful, details of the scheme for which the grant is awarded may be published by
the Council.
I confirm that if successful, I will provide Leighton-Linslade Town Council proof of my self-funding
contribution and that works have been completed by supplying the invoice, evidence of payment
and photographs of completed works.
I understand that the information provided on and with this application form will be used by the
Council to judge whether or not to award the grant and that the decision is final.
I am aware the council will retain this information only for the purposes of processing the grant
application and subject to the terms of its privacy notice and associated data management policies.
I declare that the information given is correct to the best of my knowledge and that any funds
received will be used solely for the purpose detailed on this form.
Applicant signature:

Date:

Name in capitals:
Designation:
(your work role)

Office use:
Date received:

App. No.

Page 62

Agenda Item 11

Cultural and Economic Services Committee
Date:

7 December 2020

Title:

Budget update

Purpose of the Report:

To monitor Committee budgets

Contact Officer:

Vivien Cannon, Head of Economic
Development
LLTC Five Year Plan VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF
THE TOWN CENTRE: To continue to support a vibrant
town through partnership working and initiatives including
management of the street markets, support for local
businesses, town and community promotions and town
centre enhancements.

Corporate Objective/s

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1.

√

2020/21 budget spend including earmarked reserves.

√

Budget spend to facilitate operational delivery

√

Spend as per financial rules.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.1

To recommend Committee’s draft budget for 2021/2022 to Policy and
Finance Committee.

1.2

To carry forward unspent funds from 101/4554 into earmarked reserves
(970/9022) for ongoing maintenance and kit replenishments for
community defibrillators.

1.3

To carry forward unspent funds from 413/4100 into earmarked reserves
(970/9055) for ongoing maintenance of the Public Conveniences.

2.

BUDGET INFORMATION

2.1

Current year budget update is attached at Appendix A.

2.2

Committee’s draft 2021/22 annual budget is attached at Appendix B.

Page 63

2.3

Committee is asked to consider the movement of some budget funds into
earmarked reserves to facilitate event delivery and future maintenance /repairs
and kit for service responsibilities.

3.

EARMARKED RESERVES

3.1

Some of the above recommendations request Committee’s endorsement to
carry forward aspects of previously endorsed allocation of funds into 2021/22
due to delays in spend timetables, predominantly due to the impact of Covid
restrictions.

3.2

The table below gives detail regarding Committee’s current earmarked
reserves. The table provides Committee with a ‘running total’ showing what
spend Committee has agreed. The Council’s financial system only shows
‘committed’ spend so if a project is yet to be undertaken, the allocated budget
will not show on the Council’s financial system. Thus, the table offers a more
detailed status on earmarked reserves and its intended use.

Page 64

EMR (970)
(9018)
Economic
Development
£17,986 + £249
= £18,235
(2020/21)
June 2019 Ref. 12/CE (f)
remaining funds
of £249 from
9027, (Town
Centre
Management),
moved into
9018 (Economic
Development)

Information / rationale
To fund ongoing Town Centre focused activity, e.g. street
furniture maintenance/updating, reprinting of shopping
directories, Town maps, town banners, etc. Town centre
attractions, e.g. Children’s Trail repairs.

 £1,000 contribution for delivery of 2020 Best Bar
None Award. Ref. 38/CE 2020/21 scheme
postponed, contribution to be rolled over for
2021/22 delivery.
 £105 from 20219/20 carried forward specifically
for Annual Business Network Event, Ref:9/CE.
£42 spent to date. PO raised. £63 remaining to
be allocated.

£1,000

£105

07/12/21, Recommendation 1.4, above:
To confirm:
a. £1,000 Committee endorsed contribution for
delivery of 2020 Best Bar None Award. Ref.
38/CE can be used to deliver the 2021/22,
(970/9018).
b. £63 from 20219/20 carried forward specifically
for Annual Business Network Event, Ref:9/CE,
can be spent in 2021/22, (970/9018).
 £5000 to fund Town centre Welcome Back
Campaign. Ref: Covid Delegated Decision
02/04/20 + Ref CE/ Actual spend to date
£3,390.20
07/12/20, Item 11, recommendation 1.2:
To utilise the remaining allocated Town Centre
Promotion earmarked Budget (970/ 9018) £1,609.80
to create a Town Centre promotional video, as per
para 3.11.1.

(9020) TACTIC
£4,283
(2020/21)

Remaining
Less

To fund ongoing activity delivery, equipment refreshes,
building upkeep and maintenance.



Spend to date, £284

07/12/20, Agenda item 9,
Recommendation 1.1: To endorse that a total of
£4,719.60 be allocated from TACTIC earmarked
reserves to commission CHUMS to deliver the Talkspace Wellbeing Service in 2021/22, and that it is

Page 65

£5,000

= £12,130
Remaining
to allocate
Less

£284.00

split into £3,855.60 from 970/9020 and £864 from
970/9049, as per para. 5.2.
07/12/20, Agenda item 9,
Recommendation 1.2: To carry forward unused funds
from budget line 104/4100 (maintenance) into
earmarked reserves to facilitate future building
repairs and maintenance, as per para 8.1.
07/12/20, Agenda item 9,
Recommended 1.3: To carry forward unused funds
from budget line 104/4014 (projects) to assist with
project work delivery in 2021/22, as per para 3.4
=£3,999
Remaining
to allocate
(9049)
Donations to
TACTIC
£978
(2020/21)

Gifted from the public to be used to support the work of
TACTIC – activities for young people - and Youth Forum raised
funds for specific causes.

Less

£114 of raised by Youth Forum for Homeless
cause to be given to charity. (Ref: 12/CE) PO
Raised

£114

07/12/20, Agenda item 9,
Recommendation as above (9020) will utilise all
remaining funds. CHUMS

(9022)
Community
Access
Defibrillators
£8
(2020/21)

Un-used budget is rolled forward to facilitate maintenance,
electricity supply and kit re-stock costs. To cover the remaining
life span (10yrs) of the equipment; 4.5 years remaining since
2015. (Ref.361/LLP)

(9026)
Cultural &
Economic
Services
£30,276
(2020/21)

To support the achievement of Council 5-Year Plan Objectives
– e.g. pilot projects before long-term commitments are made or
ruled out.

=£864
Remaining
to allocate

07/11/20 Agenda item 11. Recommendation 1.2
Recommendation to carry forward unspent funds
from 101/4554 into earmarked reserves (970/9022)
for ongoing maintenance and stock replenishments
for community defibrillators.
=£8
.
Remaining

The below funding is yet to be used; Covid-19
impacted on activity:

Page 66

Less

 £7,000, VE Day celebrations 2020, for Rotary
Leighton Linslade. (Ref. 26/CE)

£7,000

07/10/20 Recommendation 1.5: above:
To endorse that the contribution of £7,000 (970/9026)
endorsed on 07/10/19, Ref: 26/CE (iii) can be used to
deliver the 2021 event due to Covid led
postponement of the 2020 event.
 £900 to fund an increase in movie showings by
three films: Movies for the More Mature. (Ref
26/CE c)
 £2,400, extension to pilot scheme for the Youth
Film Club. (Ref.26/CE)

£900

£2,400
07/12/20 Recommendation 1.7, above:
To endorse the contributions of:
a. £900 (970/9026) to increase movie showings
for Movies for the More Mature (Ref; 26/CE)
can be used in 2022 as work delayed due to
Covid.
b. £2,4000 (970/9026) extension to pilot scheme
for the Youth Film Club. (Ref.26/CE), can be
used in 2022 as work delayed due to Covid.
 £6000 for LB First Town Centre Web site:
£1,000 released Sep2020 Ref 56/CE. PO raised
£5,000 released Nov2020 Ref: 159/PF PO raised

(9027)
Town Centre
Management
(2020/21)

Accrued from previous years, work now picked up through
general Economic Development earmarked reserves (9018)

(9028)
Signage –
proposed
allocation of
£3,643
(2020/21)

Committee endorsed to continue improving town centre
signage. Peacock Mews and Friday Street/ Ropa Court
signage completed.

£1,000
£5,000
= £20,147
Remaining
to allocate

June 19, Ref. 12/CE (f) remaining funds of £249
moved into 9018, (Economic Development).

 Focus spend on Ryland Mews and Bell Alley in
2019/20, (Ref.12/CE (b)
07/12/20, Recommendation 1.6, above.
To endorse that earmarked reserves of £3,643
(970/9028) can be used on Ryland Mews and Bell

Page 67

Less

Alley signage improvements (Ref.12/CE (b)), in =£3,643
2021/22 as work was delayed due other priorities.
Remaining
to allocate
(9055)
Public
Conveniences
£13,227
(2020/21)

To fund ongoing upkeep and maintenance: short and longterm repairs/replacement.

07/11/20 Recommendation 1.3, above:
To carry forward unspent funds from 413/4100 into
earmarked reserves (970/9022) for ongoing
maintenance of the Public Conveniences.

(9044)
Christmas
lights
£1,075
(2020/21)

3-year contract in place 2018 to 2020 – to manage contract
period and cover repair callouts, damage, improve
infrastructure, and Christmas tree, etc.

(9057)
Community
Projects
£23,114
(2020/21)

Committee endorsed its use, to expand community events
programme over 3 years.

 £22,500 allocated to enhance the events
programme with additional time and expenditure
at Canal Festival, Band Concerts & Live TV
Screening in financial years 2019/20, 2020/21 &
2021/2022 (Ref. 140/CE and Ref. 23/CE)
(1yr = £7,500 / 3yrs £22,500) Ongoing- POs
raised. Initial spend in 2019/20 for Canal Fest
and band Concerts of £5,501 = £16,999
remaining in this allocated budget spend.
07/12/20, Recommendation 1.8, above:
To endorse remaining funds of £16,999, of
Committee’s
originally
endorsed
additional
expenditure for events programme (970/ 9057) for the
Canal Festival, Band Concerts & Live TV Screening
originally for financial years 2019/20, 2020/21 &
2021/2022 (Ref. 140/CE and Ref. 23/CE), can now
include spend in 2022/23 due to interruption of
delivery as a result of Covid.
07/12/20, Agenda item 8,
Recommendation 1.1: To endorse the allocation of
£5,000 from the Christmas budgets (£2,500,
101/4511 & £2,500 101/4408) and carry forward into
earmarked reserves (970/9057), for the trial of

Page 68

=£13,227
Remaining
to allocate

=£1,075
Remaining
to allocate
Less

£16,999

recorded music in the high street during an
appropriate period in 2021.
£TBC
Recommendation 1.7: To endorse the delay of the =£6,115
Thanksgiving event and to allocate a £5,000 delivery Remaining
budget from earmarked reserves (970/9057).
to allocate

END

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70

09/11/2020

Page 1

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

15:16

Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 30/09/2020

Month No: 6

Committee Report

Actual
Current Mth

Actual Year
To Date

Current
Annual Bud

Variance
Committed
Annual Total Expenditure

Funds
Available

% Spent

Cultural & Economic
101 Community Projects
1051 Canal Festival Income

0

1055 Big Lunch Income

0

63

0

(63)

0.0%

1076 Business Networking Event Inc

0

150

1,200

1,050

12.5%

52

121

500

379

24.2%

0

40

0

(40)

0.0%

52

259

11,700

11,441

2.2%

12,556

63,763

138,042

74,279

74,279

46.2%

0

0

1,100

1,100

1,100

0.0%

1201 Sales
1700 Miscellaneous Income
Community Projects :- Income
4000 Salaries
4003 Event Salaries
4008 Staff Travel

(115)

10,000

10,115

(1.1%)

4

53

700

647

647

7.5%

704

4,326

26,500

22,174

2,464

19,710

25.6%

4328 About Town

0

1,998

4,500

2,502

828

1,674

62.8%

4408 Salaries Christmas

0

0

5,000

5,000

5,000

0.0%

4412 Christmas Lights

0

0

33,000

33,000

21,825

33.9%

4508 VE Celebrations

0

150

0

(150)

(150)

0.0%

4013 Event Consultancy

4509 Buzzard Trails

0

0

4,000

4,000

4510 Business Development

375

783

2,500

1,717

4511 Christmas Street Event

0

0

14,625

14,625

4513 Band Concerts

0

300

7,100

4515 Canal Festival

0

0

19,925

573

573

10,700

10,127

69

2,979

3,000

4520 Movies for the More Mature

0

0

4530 Salaries - Canal Festival

0

0

4531 Salaries - Band Concert

0

4532 Salaries - Living History Day

0

4533 Salaries - Business Networking

0

0

300

300

4552 Big Lunch

0

300

11,424

11,124

4553 Salaries Big Lunch

0

0

3,000

4554 Community Access Defibrillator

0

0

1,000

4572 Town Bunting

0

3,000

3,000

4574 Business Campaigns

0

0

500

590

729

5,000

4,271

14,870

78,953

306,016

227,063

(14,818)

(78,695)

(294,316)

(215,621)

4516 Living History Day
4518 General Promotions

4920 Visitor Economy/Tourism
Community Projects :- Indirect Expenditure
Net Income over Expenditure

11,175

4,000

0.0%

1,122

55.1%

14,625

0.0%

6,800

6,800

4.2%

19,925

19,925

0.0%

9,859

7.9%

21

21

99.3%

4,500

4,500

4,500

0.0%

5,000

5,000

5,000

0.0%

0

1,000

1,000

1,000

0.0%

0

600

600

600

0.0%

Page 71

595

268

300

0.0%

9,133

20.1%

3,000

3,000

0.0%

1,000

1,000

0.0%

0

0

100.0%

500

500

0.0%

250

4,021

19.6%

17,570

209,492

31.5%

1,991

Continued over page

09/11/2020

Page 2

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

15:16

Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 30/09/2020

Month No: 6

Committee Report

Actual
Current Mth

Actual Year
To Date

Current
Annual Bud

Variance
Committed
Annual Total Expenditure

Funds
Available

% Spent

103 MTRF
4907 MTRF

19

111

0

(111)

47,822

(47,933)

19

111

0

(111)

47,822

(47,933)

(19)

(111)

0

111

1000 Rent Receivable

0

293

3,000

2,707

9.8%

1005 School workshops

0

0

500

500

0.0%

1057 Activities - Income

0

0

2,000

2,000

0.0%

MTRF :- Indirect Expenditure
Net Expenditure

0.0%

104 TACTIC

TACTIC :- Income

0

293

5,500

5,207

16,045

83,192

163,500

80,308

80,308

50.9%

4005 Staff Training

0

226

1,000

774

774

22.6%

4006 Staff Expenses/Allowances

0

0

200

200

200

0.0%

4008 Staff Travel

0

0

400

400

400

0.0%

4009 Protective Clothing

0

0

200

200

200

0.0%

4014 Projects

331

362

4,700

4,338

4,338

7.7%

4100 Repairs & Maintenance

596

801

3,000

2,199

2,199

26.7%

0

424

800

376

376

53.0%

4132 Energy - Gas

21

222

600

378

378

37.0%

4135 Water

24

191

400

209

209

47.8%

0

6,737

6,800

64

64

99.1%

425

718

800

82

82

89.8%

4000 Salaries

4131 Energy - Electricity

4145 Rates
4147 Service Charges
4150 Cleaning Materials
4300 Equipment - purchase
4309 IT Support
4320 Telephones
4321 Office Supplies

5.3%

0

0

300

300

299

0.3%

46

46

1,500

1,454

1

1,454

3.1%

0

0

500

500

500

0.0%

52

312

1,000

688

688

31.2%

132

186

1,500

1,314

1,314

12.4%

4326 Subscriptions

0

0

150

150

150

0.0%

4327 Publicity

0

0

500

500

500

0.0%

4374 Refreshments

2

2

400

398

398

0.5%

4426 Refuse

0

0

350

350

350

0.0%

17,675

93,418

188,600

95,182

95,181

49.5%

(17,675)

(93,126)

(183,100)

(89,974)

0

0

250

250

0.0%

1300 Tuesday Market

609

928

35,000

34,072

2.7%

1301 Saturday Market

647

945

45,000

44,055

2.1%

TACTIC :- Indirect Expenditure
Net Income over Expenditure

1

412 Street Markets
1056 Starter Market

Page 72

Continued over page

09/11/2020

Page 3

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

15:16

Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 30/09/2020

Month No: 6

Committee Report

Actual
Current Mth

1302 Farmers Market
1303 Speciality & Visiting Markets

Actual Year
To Date

Current
Annual Bud

0

0

1,800

Variance
Committed
Annual Total Expenditure

Funds
Available

% Spent

1,800

0.0%

645

1,180

1,500

320

78.7%

1304 Craft Markets

0

0

1,800

1,800

0.0%

1305 Commercial Market

0

(300)

2,200

2,500

(13.6%)

1,901

2,753

87,550

84,797

3.1%

Street Markets :- Income
4000 Salaries

6,992

36,403

82,250

45,847

45,847

44.3%

4001 Temporary Staff

0

73

5,000

4,927

4,927

1.5%

4005 Staff Training

0

0

500

500

500

0.0%

4008 Staff Travel

0

0

200

200

200

0.0%

945

6,949

20,000

13,052

1,560

11,492

42.5%

4080 Market Consultancy
4100 Repairs & Maintenance

83

167

2,500

2,333

300

2,033

18.7%

0

1,404

10,946

9,542

600

8,942

18.3%

58

349

500

151

151

69.7%

4145 Rates

0

12,350

12,517

167

167

98.7%

4170 Themed Markets

0

500

2,000

1,500

330

1,170

41.5%

4300 Equipment - purchase

0

741

1,000

259

0

258

74.2%

4309 IT Support

0

0

1,300

1,300

1,300

0.0%

4322 Printing & Stationery

0

212

300

88

88

70.8%

4130 Security
4131 Energy - Electricity

4326 Subscriptions
4327 Publicity
4426 Refuse
Street Markets :- Indirect Expenditure
Net Income over Expenditure

0

0

500

500

500

0.0%

(165)

2,004

2,500

496

496

80.2%

639

1,957

8,400

6,443

6,443

23.3%

8,552

63,109

150,413

87,304

2,790

84,514

43.8%

(6,651)

(60,356)

(62,863)

(2,507)

0

204

3,500

3,296

680

2,616

25.3%

413 Public Conveniences
4100 Repairs & Maintenance
4148 Management Fee

3,792

14,587

45,500

30,913

30,913

32.1%

4382 Insurances

0

0

100

100

100

0.0%

4422 Service Charges

0

1,571

3,000

1,429

1,429

52.4%

3,792

16,362

52,100

35,738

35,058

32.7%

(3,792)

(16,362)

(52,100)

(35,738)

Cultural & Economic :- Income

1,953

3,305

104,750

101,445

Expenditure

44,908

251,954

697,129

445,175

(42,954)

(248,649)

Public Conveniences :- Indirect Expenditure
Net Expenditure

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

680

3.2%
68,864

376,312

46.0%

Partnership

Page 73

Continued over page

09/11/2020

Page 4

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

15:16

Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 30/09/2020

Month No: 6

Committee Report

Actual
Current Mth

Actual Year
To Date

Current
Annual Bud

Variance
Committed
Annual Total Expenditure

Funds
Available

% Spent

503 Partnership
4524 Community Forum

0

0

500

500

0

0

500

500

Net Expenditure

0

0

(500)

(500)

Partnership :- Income

0

0

0

0

Expenditure

0

0

500

500

0

0

Grand Totals:- Income

1,953

3,305

104,750

101,445

Expenditure

44,908

251,954

697,629

445,675

Net Income over Expenditure

(42,954)

(248,649)

(592,879)

(344,230)

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(42,954)

(248,649)

Partnership :- Indirect Expenditure

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

Page 74

0

500

0.0%

500

0.0%

0.0%
0

500

0.0%

3.2%
68,864

376,812

46.0%

25/11/2020

Page 1

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

Cultural & Economic
101

Community Projects

1051

Canal Festival Income

1055

9,465

10,000

-115

-115

0

10,000

0

0

Big Lunch Income

0

2,950

0

63

63

0

0

0

0

1058

Best Bar None - Income

0

17,000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1065

Christmas Event Income

0

4,150

0

0

1,000

0

0

0

0

1076

Business Networking Event Inc

1,000

975

1,200

150

150

0

1,250

0

0

1152

Section 106 Receipts

0

49,220

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1201

Sales

750

610

500

84

150

0

250

0

0

1700

Miscellaneous Income

0

16

0

40

40

0

0

0

0

11,750

84,386

11,700

221

1,288

0

11,500

0

0

134,060

110,274

138,042

74,246

130,000

1,560

141,500

0

0

8,000

5,306

1,100

0

1,100

0

0

0

0

700

458

700

64

100

0

700

0

0

44,440

38,618

26,500

5,910

16,800

4,576

26,500

0

0

Page 75

10,000

Total Income

4000

Salaries

4003

Salaries - Events

4008

Staff Travel

4013

Event Consultancy

4015

Best Bar None

0

11,403

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4180

Section 106 expenditure

0

36,743

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4328

About Town

4,500

4,566

4,500

2,826

4,300

0

4,000

0

0

4371

Remembrance

0

820

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4408

Salaries - Christmas

5,000

3,098

5,000

0

5,000

0

0

0

0

4412

Christmas Lights

32,000

31,452

33,000

0

33,000

2,000

33,000

0

0

4508

VE Celebrations

0

0

0

150

150

0

0

0

0

4509

Buzzard Trails

4,000

1,720

4,000

0

2,000

0

4,000

0

0

Continued on next page

25/11/2020

Page 2

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

Business Development

3,292

3,320

2,500

1,083

1,678

595

2,250

0

0

4511

Christmas Street Event

13,000

17,492

14,625

0

9,175

9,175

14,625

0

0

4513

Band Concerts

6,000

6,124

7,100

300

300

0

7,100

0

0

4515

Canal Festival

18,000

18,270

19,925

0

19,925

0

0

0

0

4516

Living History Day

10,000

8,983

10,700

587

9,700

268

1,000

0

0

4518

General Promotions

2,208

2,306

3,000

2,979

3,000

0

3,000

0

0

4520

Movies for the More Mature

4,500

3,900

4,500

0

4,500

0

0

0

0

4530

Salaries - Canal Festival

0

0

5,000

0

5,000

0

0

0

0

4531

Salaries - Band Concert

0

0

1,000

0

1,000

0

0

0

0

4532

Salaries - Living History Day

0

0

600

0

600

0

0

0

0

4533

Salaries - Business Networking

0

0

300

0

300

0

0

0

0

4535

Business Networking

0

24

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4552

Big Lunch

10,000

12,968

11,424

3,938

5,900

1,040

11,424

0

0

4553

Salaries - Big Lunch

3,000

1,782

3,000

0

1,000

0

3,000

0

0

4554

Community Access Defibrillator

0

0

1,000

0

1,000

0

1,000

0

0

4572

Town Bunting

3,000

2,702

3,000

3,000

3,000

0

3,000

0

0

4574

Business Campaigns

500

413

500

500

500

0

750

0

0

4920

Visitor Economy/Tourism

5,000

4,611

5,000

1,769

5,000

730

5,000

0

0

Overhead Expenditure

311,200

327,354

306,016

97,352

264,028

19,943

261,849

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(299,450)

(242,968)

(294,316)

(97,131)

(262,740)

0

3,101

0

0

47,822

0

0

0

0

0

3,101

0

0

47,822

0

0

0

0

Page 76

4510

103

MTRF

1154

MTRF - Income
Total Income

Continued on next page

(250,349)

25/11/2020

Page 3

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

4907

MTRF

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

0

6,457

0

272

48,094

47,822

0

0

0

Overhead Expenditure

0

6,457

0

272

48,094

47,822

0

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

0

(3,356)

0

(272)

(272)

3,500

4,099

3,000

293

293

0

750

0

0

0

TACTIC

1000

Rent Receivable

1005

School workshops

500

500

500

0

250

0

125

0

0

1057

Activities - Income

2,000

1,774

2,000

0

0

0

500

0

0

1151

Grants Received

0

5,449

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6,000

11,822

5,500

293

543

0

1,375

0

0

158,000

135,547

163,500

96,502

163,500

0

168,000

0

0

0

3,108

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,700

100

1,000

276

774

0

1,000

0

0

50

69

200

0

200

0

200

0

0

Page 77

104

Total Income

4000

Salaries

4001

Temporary Staff

4005

Staff Training

4006

Staff Expenses/Allowances

4008

Staff Travel

350

468

400

0

200

0

400

0

0

4009

Protective Clothing

200

66

200

0

100

0

100

0

0

4011

Advertising

200

200

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4014

Projects

4,700

4,228

4,700

362

2,700

0

4,700

0

0

4100

Repairs & Maintenance

3,000

2,508

3,000

818

3,000

0

3,000

0

0

4131

Energy - Electricity

800

768

800

606

800

0

800

0

0

4132

Energy - Gas

600

900

600

340

600

0

600

0

0

4135

Water

400

301

400

215

400

0

400

0

0

4145

Rates

6,550

6,629

6,800

6,737

6,737

0

6,940

0

0

Continued on next page

25/11/2020

Page 4

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

Service Charges

800

641

800

839

800

0

800

0

0

4150

Cleaning Materials

400

237

300

44

150

1

300

0

0

4300

Equipment - purchase

1,500

1,112

1,500

199

1,500

0

1,000

0

0

4309

IT Support

500

250

500

0

250

0

500

0

0

4320

Telephones

1,300

609

1,000

417

650

0

650

0

0

4321

Office Supplies

1,500

1,365

1,500

240

1,000

0

750

0

0

4326

Subscriptions

150

0

150

136

150

0

150

0

0

4327

Publicity

500

500

500

0

0

0

500

0

0

4374

Refreshments

500

276

400

2

100

0

400

0

0

4426

Refuse

350

360

350

52

175

0

350

0

0

4725

Grant Aided Expenditure

0

177

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Overhead Expenditure

184,050

160,418

188,600

107,784

183,786

1

191,540

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(178,050)

(148,596)

(183,100)

(107,492)

(183,243)

250

106

250

0

0

0

450

0

0

Page 78

4147

(190,165)

412

Street Markets

1056

Starter Market

1300

Tuesday Market

35,000

34,450

35,000

1,303

1,800

0

8,750

0

0

1301

Saturday Market

45,000

37,508

45,000

1,179

2,500

0

11,250

0

0

1302

Farmers Market

2,000

1,504

1,800

18

100

0

450

0

0

1303

Speciality & Visiting Markets

1,500

2,022

1,500

1,255

1,255

0

375

0

0

1304

Craft Markets

1,800

1,700

1,800

0

100

0

450

0

0

1305

Commercial Market

2,000

4,250

2,200

-270

1,100

0

550

0

0

1700

Miscellaneous Income

0

170

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

87,550

81,710

87,550

3,485

6,855

0

22,275

0

0

Total Income

Continued on next page

25/11/2020

Page 5

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

4000

Salaries

4001

Temporary Staff

4005

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

73,965

82,250

42,540

73,000

0

77,500

0

0

5,000

2,127

5,000

73

73

0

2,500

0

0

Staff Training

750

250

500

0

0

0

300

0

0

4008

Staff Travel

250

248

200

0

50

0

200

0

0

4080

Market Consultancy

0

0

20,000

12,181

20,000

1,560

20,000

0

0

4100

Repairs & Maintenance

2,500

2,024

2,500

927

2,500

417

2,500

0

0

4130

Security

10,946

12,760

10,946

1,404

2,700

600

5,500

0

0

4131

Energy - Electricity

500

652

500

120

150

0

500

0

0

4145

Rates

13,500

12,152

12,517

12,350

12,350

0

12,750

0

0

4170

Themed Markets

2,052

714

2,000

500

2,000

660

0

0

0

4300

Equipment - purchase

1,000

731

1,000

741

1,000

0

1,000

0

0

4309

IT Support

800

0

1,300

0

1,300

0

0

0

0

4322

Printing & Stationery

300

0

300

212

212

0

300

0

0

4326

Subscriptions

500

428

500

0

500

0

500

0

0

4327

Publicity

2,500

588

2,500

2,664

2,500

0

0

0

0

4381

Bank Charges

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,300

0

0

4426

Refuse

8,400

8,624

8,400

2,438

6,300

0

8,400

0

0

4519

Market Promotions

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,500

0

0

4575

Market Bursaries

500

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Overhead Expenditure

120,498

115,263

150,413

76,150

124,635

3,237

138,750

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(32,948)

(33,553)

(62,863)

(72,665)

(117,780)

3,500

3,053

3,500

204

3,500

0

0

Page 79

71,000

413

Public Conveniences

4100

Repairs & Maintenance

Continued on next page

(116,475)

680

3,500

25/11/2020

Page 6

Leighton-Linslade Town Council

13:40

Annual Budget - By Committee (Actual YTD Month 8)
Note: DRAFT BUDGET 2021/22 with 2020/21 projections
2019-2020
Budget

4148

Management Fee

4382

Insurances

4422

Service Charges

2020-2021

Actual

Total

Actual YTD

2021-2022

Projected

Committed

Agreed

EMR

Carried
Forward

Page 80

45,500

45,687

45,500

18,443

38,000

0

45,500

0

0

100

0

100

0

100

0

100

0

0

3,000

1,552

3,000

1,571

1,571

0

3,000

0

0

Overhead Expenditure

52,100

50,292

52,100

20,218

43,171

680

52,100

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(52,100)

(50,292)

(52,100)

(20,218)

(43,171)

Cultural & Economic - Income

105,300

181,019

104,750

3,999

56,508

0

35,150

0

0

667,848

659,785

697,129

301,777

663,714

71,683

644,239

0

0

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(562,548)

(478,766)

(592,379)

(297,778)

(607,206)

Total Budget Income

105,300

181,019

104,750

3,999

56,508

0

35,150

0

0

Expenditure

667,848

659,785

697,129

301,777

663,714

71,683

644,239

0

0

(562,548)

(478,766)

(592,379)

(297,778)

(607,206)

Expenditure

Movement to/(from) Gen Reserve

(52,100)

(609,089)

(609,089)

Agenda Item 12

Cultural and Economic Services Committee
Date:

7 December 2020

Title:

General Service Updates

Purpose of the Report:

To inform Committee of work activity

Contact Officer:

Vivien Cannon. Head of Cultural and Economic
Services Committee

Corporate Objective/s: LLTC Five Year Plan VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF THE
TOWN CENTRE: To continue to support a vibrant town
through partnership working and initiatives including
management of the street markets, support for local
businesses, town and community promotions and town centre
enhancements.

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety
1.

Yes
Yes

Update information

RECOMMENDATIONS
Should members be minded, the recommendations are:

1.1

To utilise the remaining allocated Town Centre Promotion earmarked
Budget, (970/ 9018) £1,609.80 to create a Town Centre promotional video,
as per para 3.11.1.

1.2

To allocate the remainder of the Living History Trail funding of £11,608
(925/9506), to fund the transfer of The Sands of Time (edited version) onto
the Buzzard Trails App. and additional promotional materials to continue
the Buzzard Trail promotion.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

The activities and responsibilities of the Cultural and Economic Service (C&E)
are broad and diverse. Below are brief updates on service activitiy to inform
Committee of projects completed and ongoing.

Page 81

3

INFORMATION

3.2

Town Centre Wi-Fi

3.2.1 Free WiFi facilitates use of the internet. Below is the internet user report from
install, Thursday 2 January to Saturday 31 October 2020.

Note: The total user figure is 9,129 of which 8,310 (91%) are repeat browsers
and 819 (9%) are new by the last date of the report period.
3.2.2 The browser user age breakdown for the same period is below.

Age range

Page 82

3.2.3 Internet browser average time of day usage is below. It reflects footfall visit times.

Time of day

3.2.4 The below details give Committee a sample location breakdown of where
visitors register their main post code when signing up to the service for the
month of August 2020. Of the 1,406 total visitors, 1,225 provide a local
postcode. Local is

Note: By way of a detailed example of visitor locations, the date for the highest
WiFi registered devices is Wednesday 26th August. The breakdown of locations
shown for this date is shown below:

Page 83

National Location

3.3

Local Location (Central Beds area)

Town Centre Geo-Sense – footfall monitoring

3.3.1 There are 4 active Geo-Sensors coexisting with the WiFi equipment. Monthly
visit comparisons provided up to 31st October are provided in the table below:
Month
2020

Average
visits per
day

Total
month
visits

Have
visited
previously

New
visitors

Increase /
decrease
visits from
previous
month

January

7947

246347

118692
(48%

127655
(52%)

+5428.43%

February

8182

237269

6148

190574

95234
(40%)
71730
(38%)

+3.83%

March

142035
(60%
118844
(62%

April

3885

116549

60558
(52%

55991
(48%)

-38.84%

May

4391

136118

69032
(51%)

67086
(49%)

+16.79%

Food market in
Library car park

June

5210

153286

80354
(51%)

75932
(49%)

+14.82%

July

5880

147006

76446
(52%)

70560
(48%)

-5.94%

Easing of Covid
restrictions /
Market moved
to High St.
One week’s kit
outage

August

6418

198943

102953
(52%)

95990
(48%)

+35.33%

September

5953

178599

105104
(59%)

73495
(41%)

-10.23%

October

4940

153133

95905
(63%)

57228
(37%)

-14.26%

November

-22.64%

Comments

Kit installed

Covid
restrictions

Schools back

Covid
restrictions /
Restricted
market

Page 84

December

3.3.2 The table below compares the monthly average dwell time and busiest time of
the day.
Month
2020

Average
dwell time minutes

Busiest time of
the day

January

20

11.00 – 12.00

February

21

12.00 – 13.00

March

21

11.00 – 12.00

April

21

11.00 – 12.00

May

19

11.00 – 12.00

Food market in Library car park

June

18

12.00 – 13.00

July

18

14.00 – 15.00

Easing of Covid restrictions / Market in
High St
One week’s kit outage

August

16

14.00 - 15.00

September

17

11.00 – 12.00

October

19

10.00 – 11.00

November
December

Comments

Kit installed

Covid restrictions

Schools back

Covid restrictions / Restricted market

3.3.3 At present, the Council collating data for its first baseline year, all be it an
unusual one.
3.4

Architectural Lighting

3.4.1 With most permissions and background work confirmed, a tentative timescale
for delivery is in place which takes the project into early 2021 (as previously
reported). It recently emerged that All Saints Church is hosting some bats which
is a protected species. All parties are positively collaborating, and officers
anticipate work can still go ahead.
3.5

Electronic signage

3.5.1 New software has been purchased and installed to facilitate the programming
of messages in advance. It is hoped this will provide flexibility in messaging and
help the Corporate Governance and Central Services administration team
manage the activity.
3.5.2 The sign on the by-pass remains unused and awaits relocation.
3.6

Section 106 approved projects

3.6.1 Of the four projects agreed by Committee, the road barrier for the High St
remains outstanding. The aim was to undertake exploration and fund any

Page 85

feasibility activity needed with the assistance of Central Bedfordshire Council
Highway officers. With the experimental Temporary Traffic Road Order (TTRO)
in place in the Town Centre, no action is being planned. Officers will use the
experience and learning of Central Bedfordshire Council’s Traffic Management
service to assess how the existing temporary barriers have fared and what is
planned for the future of the Town Centre.
3.7

Public Convenience (Multi-Storey Car Park)

3.7.1 Officers have been notified that Central Bedfordshire Council has postponed
the installation of a Changing Places facility. Work on the redrafted lease has
been completed and until such time that there is a need to formally accept it, it
remains with CBC.
3.7.2 We continue to manage safe access to the public conveniences in keeping with
Covid Secure guidelines. The facilities remain open during this second national
lockdown period as per Government guidelines.
3.8

Community Defibrillators

3.8.1 Throughout lockdown, the Council’s volunteer has continued to undertake
regular inspections and report them on the online Webnos system which is part
of the national database of defibrillators used to inform the emergency services
of their locations. The Webnos site is run by The Community Heartbeat Trust
which is a charitable organisation. Apart from some wear and tear with the
ageing cabinets, all equipment remains in good working order.
3.9

Lamp Column Banners

3.9.1 Three years have passed since the banner fixings were first installed and many
have fared well. Replacement fixes are due to be installed in readiness for new
banners to go up.
3.10

Town Centre Promotion / Welcome Back Campaign.

3.10.1 The campaign delivery consisted of 7 parts and a budget of up to £5,000
(970/9018), was allocated to facilitate the activities. See below table providing
update summary. The proposal is to use unallocated budget for a short
promotional video for the Town Centre.
Activity

Budget
allocation

Actual
spend

Comments / Update

Pictorial
promotion of
Town Centre

0

0

Town shopping
adverts
Town Centre
Logo

£2,000

£1,250

On-line campaign on Town Centreslide show delivered.
Redirected existing contracted
Market Support staff hours.
Advert on side of bus service
vehicles ran for 12wks from 1st Aug.
Commissioned illustrator for
finalisation work and redirected
exiting contracted staff hours.

£200

Page 86

Shopping
vouchers

£1,000

Children's shop
front trail

£500

Best
Independent
Shop Window
Display
competition.

£300

Cotton shopping
bags.

£1,500

Total

£5,300

£650

148x £5 vouchers issues,
18x £5 voucher unused,
30x retailers signed up to the
scheme, of which, 19 exchanged
vouchers.
Redirected existing contracted
Market Support staff hours.
£368.20
This became the Spooktacular
Halloween Train on Oct half term.
Delivery by Events team
£300
Ongoing for December delivery TBC
1st prize £110,
2nd prize £90, and
3rd prize £50
TOTAL £250
Considering purchase of Trophy £50.
Delivery by Events team.
£622
Ongoing sales:
On sale in 4 shops at £2 each.
50x bags donated to TACTIC’s older
Person’s Christmas boxes.
All income for sales going to Mayor’s
Charities.
£3,390.20 Remaining funds of £1,609.80 to be
used to fund a video celebrating
Town Centre retailers.

3.10.2 Of the potential £1,000 worth of vouchers available to issue, £740 was the
actual amount issued, of which £650 was redeemed. It is not unexpected for
some vouchers to remain unredeemed. Those shops who had vouchers spent
with them said they appreciated that customers chose their shop to spend their
vouchers in. It was a moral boost and a practical act of interest in their products.
The only less favourable feedback is that shops would have liked a longer leadin period for them to help promote the scheme during the competition period.
The scheme raised awareness of and celebrated, local retailers. It encouraged
visits and spend in the town. Officers believe there would be business support
to repeat the scheme in the future.
3.10.3 The reusable Town Centre logo bags are currently being promoted as a good
stocking filler for Christmas. Fifty bags have been included in the TACTIC
centre’s older persons Christmas food boxes, and 3 shops are currently
collaborating with the Council by making them available to buy from their shop.
Income raised through the sale at £2 each is donated to the Mayor’s charities.
The bags serve as a subliminal reminder and celebration of the Town Centre
offer.
3.10.4 The Events team delivered the children’s shop window Halloween Trail during
half term. Feedback from parents was that the trail took them to places they
had not seen before in the town. The Halloween trail map has been downloaded
143 times.

Page 87

3.10.5 The best dress shop window competition invitation to retailers was sent out in
early November and the deadline for entries is 25 th November 5.00pm. The
public launch to encourage people to view dressed windows will be on 3rd
December and judging will take place on 13th December. This is the last
element of the Welcome Back campaign.
3.11

Small Business Saturday

3.11.1 Small Business Saturday (SBS) falls on Saturday 5 th December. This year,
Officers are collaborating with two local businesses who have successfully
caught the eye of the national campaign. These businesses are liaising with the
national SMS contacts to establish local activity that links into the SMS virtual
bus tour. Details will be shared with Members prior to the weekend which will
be before this Committee meeting.
3.11.2 Given the number of activities taking place on this weekend - SBS, the Charity
Christmas Gift market, Christmas lights being on, best dressed window
competition and that we have a new business website and a directories recently
launched by partner organisations, coupled with the fact that we all anticipate
a loosening of current restrictions, Officers have been working on a two-day
hire of a moving digital imaging van to promote the Town Centre, local
businesses and utilise as part of the town centre based activity over the
weekend. See image below:
When not situated in the Town Centre, the van will be
given a route around the town and beyond to
advertise/promote Leighton Buzzard.
The digitally enabled 3x sides of the van allows
messages to be changed and interactive activities to
be developed.

3.12 Buzzard Trails
3.12.1 The Living History Trail was launched in October 2019. The online app. platform
was named Buzzard Trails to allow more trails to be added to the app. The
Children’s Trail was therefore added. Between October 2019 – and October
2020, the usage figure stands at 575 downloads (iOS – 318 and Android – 257).
3.12.2 Promotion of the history trail has been low key, specifically evident during the
first Covid-19 lockdown period of March to June to encourage people to stay at
home. Recently, the promotional message is to enjoy the Trail’s online version
whilst staying at home.

Page 88

3.12.3 The overall budget allocated for the History Trail and app. development was
£40k. The remaining balance is £11,608. The Children’s Trail was added to the
app. The app. was purchased in a format to accommodate more trails. The
proposal is to add an edited version of the Sands of Time Trail (created by The
Greensand Trust) to the app. and ensure this trail is more frequently accessed
and access to the Town’s broader history is shared.
3.12.4 The need to promote the trail app. continues and officers propose to invest in
further promotional items and printing, etc. utilising the same remaining budget
referenced above.
3.13. About Town
3.13.1 Committee will be aware that the editing and creation of the About Town
newsletter is coordinated by the service. Officers collate information provided
by all services areas. Over the last year, the ‘Focus On’ articles have been
written by a Town Centre business owner of Latte Dah. He reports that he has
enjoyed learning about the Town Centre whilst drafting the articles and that it
has been an eye opener for him as he did not know the extent of services and
shops on offer. His own learning reflects how important it has been to share the
detail of the Town Centre offer with existing and new residents. Moving forward,
Officers have approached the Leighton Buzzard and District Archaeological and
Historical Society to start a regular mystery historical object article. This will
expand on the Council’s interest in supporting the promotion of the Town’s
history.

4.

SUMMARY

4.1

Much of the above work is ongoing service activity. In this first year of having
the WiFi and Geo Sense footfall facilities, Committee will learn how best to
utilise the data to assist its decision-making.

4.2

Committee’s Welcome back campaign activity has been welcomed by local
retailers. Committee is well placed to continue to develop its working
relationship with retailers and businesses over the coming year as the Town
continues to feel the impact of Covid.

End

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
CULTURAL AND ECONOMIC SERVICES COMMITTEE – 9 MARCH 2020
WORK PLAN 2020-2021 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2019-2024)
Cultural and Economic Strategic Objectives for 2019-2024 (from Town Council Five Year Plan 2019-2024)
Overarching Objective 3 – VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF THE TOWN CENTRE: To continue to support a vibrant town through partnership
working and initiatives including management of the street markets, support for local businesses, town and community promotions and town
centre enhancements.
Objective Objective
ref.no. in
5 Yr Plan

Comments

Page 91

5
17

To review waste and recycling operations (Market)
To Consider delivery of a Town Ranger service.

18

To promote the creation of a soft play facility within the
town.
To identify, promote and celebrate the unique features
and heritage of the Parish to both residents and visitors.

19

20

22

Consider the provision of town centre Wi-Fi (including
footfall monitoring facility).

23

To continue to manage, promote and develop the street
market.

Page 1 of 3

Official Town Guide updated in Spring 2019.
Buzzard Trails App. for Living History Trail launched October 2019.
The locally distinctive new Town Centre logo launched 2020.
Historic High St. shopping history will be celebrated in autumn’s Living History
activities. On-line Living History Busines trail continues throughout November.

Coordination role of Best Bar None scheme on behalf of partners was
relinquished 31 March 2020. The scheme continues, led by Central Bedfordshire
Council and the next awards scheme is planned to go live in February 2021
Wi-Fi and GeoSence footfall counting systems installed and went ‘live’ on
02/01/2020. Funded for 3yrs (contract concluding in late 2022), through s106 as
released from CBC. Monthly footfall figures regularly shared via Cllr Newsletter,
with Business Rep, and Central Bedfordshire Council colleagues.
Ongoing - Annual market activity delivery and work plans in place.
2020 – alternative venue for market in May and returned to High Street in June.
Additional market, ‘Thursday eXtra’ commenced August 2020 to assist casual and
speciality traders unable to fit in the Covid-19 compliant market.
Food and permitted items only market in place for November lockdown – market

Agenda Item 13

21

To consider taking on additional services, where
practicable and where considered beneficial to the town.
To promote the town centre as a safe and vibrant place
to visit in the evening.

New Council-wide contract in place.
Being led by Grounds and Environmental Services & commences in the new
financial year.

24

To continue to deliver quality community events and
regularly review their scope and delivery.

25

To consider ways to work with town centre businesses
to achieve digital/ on-line commerce options and
promote the town’s shopping/ leisure offer.

26

To consider ways to support the increase in leisure and
personal development opportunities for youth,
incorporating ongoing feedback from young people and
considering suitability of delivery locations for youth
work.
To consider ways to support the increase in leisure
opportunities for older people.
To consider the potential for a cultural and community
facility in the town centre.

27

Page 92

27a

Meeting
Date
2020
1 June
No meeting

7 September

7 December

remains in High St. Thursday eXtra market suspended due to lockdown,
Annual review of delivery practices inc. H&S are ongoing. External H&S review
completed in 2019. 2020. Covid-19 alternative activities being delivered
throughout 2020.
Shopping and Services Directory commenced updating in Feb 2020. The draft
version was circulated and then finalised in June/July 2020. Printed versions now
in circulation and bus stop posters updated.
Original COVID-19 Welcome Back campaign nearing completion. Online SME
Business directory launched – website hosted and led by local entrepreneur.
Planned Partnership Committee consultation delayed due to COVID-19.
TACTIC service is currently gathering feedback whilst undertaking outreach
activities.

Task and Finish group to commence from April 2020 to review current local
activity and to bring recommendations to Committee in Sep 2020.

MEETING DATES 2020-2021
Regular Updates

Fixed Deadline items

Market Sub Committee
Minutes
Budget
TACTIC
Events
Service updates
Minutes
Budget
TACTIC
Events
Service updates
Market Sub Committee
Minutes
Budget
TACTIC

 Youth Film Club - 2nd phase update.
 Task and Finish Group – Older people,
update. Defer to December

Page 2 of 3

Other anticipated discussion items




Combined with Market Agenda.
Task and Finish Group – Older people,
initial conclusions. Deferred to
December.

 Best Bar None update / results. - CBC leading, and next
rounds starts in Feb 2021.



Task and Finish Group – Older people
final draft proposals.
Community Events proposals for
2021/22

 Receive results from Partnership Committee’s
Community Forum young people consultation/ survey in
readiness to consider budget implications. Deferred –
has not taken place.



2021
1 March

Events
Service updates
Market Sub Committee
Minutes
Budget
TACTIC
Events
Service updates

Page 93
Page 3 of 3



Future Budgets 2021/22.

 2021/22 Draft Committee work plan.
 Youth Film Club - 2nd phase evaluation.
TBC- defer to 2021/22
 Living History Task & Finish Group
recommendations - TBC

 Pigeon Management proposal.
 Christmas lights proposals for future contract.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94

Agenda Item 14

Culture and Economic Services Committee
Date:

7 December 2020

Purpose of the Report:

Update on Hockliffe and Lake Streets
feedback on pedestrianisation

Contact Officer:

Vivien Cannon, Head of Cultural and
Economic Services

Corporate Objective/s

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1.

Vibrancy and Vitality of Town and Town Centre - To continue
to support a vibrant town through partnership working and
initiatives including management of the street market, support for
local businesses, town and community promotions and town
centre enhancements.

Yes

Update

RECOMMENDATION
Should members be minded, the recommendation is:

1.1

To note the report.

2.

INFORMATION

2.1

In June of this year, Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) introduced an
Experimental Temporary Traffic Road Order (TTRO) for the town centre.

2.2

CBC officers received feedback from businesses in Hockliffe and Lake Streets
about the impact of the localised traffic management schemes on their
businesses. Following this, CBC officers invited the Town Council to explore
these businesses’ thoughts on pedestrianising their streets.

2.3

The idea being that if sufficient interest were shown, the Town Council could
request CBC to trial a scheme in either Hockliffe or Lake Streets and assist
CBC financially towards traffic management costs for a trial. CBC officers were
highly occupied, and funds were focused on initiating the fundamental aspects
of the TTRO.

2.4

Anticipating the potential outcome that officers may need to ask CBC to

Page 95

consider such a scheme, a report was drafted and for the Community Safety
Committee to consider using funds from Dodford as there would be links with
safety - night time economy linked issues for instance. Its meeting date was
also timely in terms of moving work forward and avoid unhelpful delays for the
businesses.
2.5

Committee requested more research was undertaken prior to receiving a report.
The report was therefore withdrawn.

2.6

An officer visited and called businesses in Hockliffe and Lake Streets and
Peacock Mews and asked for general feedback and whether they had any
thoughts about pedestrianisation, without the officer specifically suggesting any
time of the day.

2.7

The results were mixed, and the Officer could not identify a consensus. A full
record of the feedback received was shared with CBC’s Traffic Management
Team. The Traffic Management team concluded the same from the feedback
and confirmed that Hockliffe St. would not be pedestrianised as it was required
for movement of traffic.

2.8

The officer gave verbal feedback to the businesses that there would be no
pedestrianisation.

2.9

CBC continued to lead work, e.g. ‘wand’ bollards were subsequently installed
(replacing the original temporary barriers) under emergency Covid powers, on
social distancing grounds.

3.

CONCLUSION

3.1

The original report is now withdrawn permanently, and the subject remains in
the hands of Central Bedfordshire Council who continue to lead all activities
relating to the Experimental TTRO.

End

Page 96

